

The Functional Neuroanatomy of the Limbic System

Ursula Dicke

Contents

- 2.1 The Limbic System 16
- 2.1.1 Septal Region 18
- 2.1.2 Amygdala 20
- 2.1.3 Hippocampal Formation 26
- 2.1.4 Basal Ganglia and Mesolimbic System 27
- 2.1.5 Thalamus 31
- 2.1.6 Hypothalamus 33
- 2.1.7 Limbic Brainstem 35

2.2 Limbic Cortical Areas – 41

- 2.2.1 Orbitofrontal Cortex 41
- 2.2.2 Cingulate Cortex 44
- 2.2.3 Insular Cortex 46

References – 51

In this chapter, we will review the anatomical components of the limbic system and its basic functions. The main structures of the brain will be presented in their morphology and neurochemistry as well as the connections of the limbic structures to each other and their links with motor and sensorycognitive brain regions. The aim is to get to know the main functions of each limbic region, but also the overlapping and complementary functions with other limbic structures. Feelings, moods and affects are generated in limbic structures, and in complex cooperation with the other brain systems, emotional states, physical reactions, mental states and behavioural expressions are experienced as a unified whole. An important principle here is that of multiple networking and the formation of different networks of the limbic structures with the other brain systems, which act depending on the personal state of mind, the situational context and the external circumstances and requirements.

Learning Objectives

After reading this chapter, readers should know the main structures of the limbic system, be familiar with the respective functions of the limbic regions, understand the connections of limbic networks with the motor and sensory-cognitive systems and the associated control of emotions and behavior.

2.1 The Limbic System

The limbic system was considered the main centre for emotions by the American neurologist James Papez (1937). The reason for this view was the observation that diseases of this system often lead to severe emotional and psychological disorders. Papez included in this system the hypothalamus, including the mammillary bodies, the anterior thalamic nuclei, the cingulate gyrus, and the hippocampus. He considered these structures to be connected in a circle by powerful pathways and thus conceived of what is now called the "Papez circuit." The idea at the time that this circle was self-contained and closed off from the cerebral cortex is now considered to be refuted, even if the basic neuroanatomical features are correct.

The modern conception of the limbic system developed through the contributions of neuroanatomist Walle Nauta, who expanded the limbic system to include areas of the midbrain in the 1950s, and especially through the work of neuroanatomist Rudolf Nieuwenhuys, who included nuclei or areas of the pons and medulla oblongata (Nieuwenhuys 1985; Nieuwenhuys et al. 1991). Nieuwenhuys developed the fruitful concept of the "central limbic continuum" (Nieuwenhuys et al. 1991), which extends from the septum through the preoptic region and hypothalamus to the limbic centers of the ventral midbrain. At the subcortical level, the olfactory and vomeronasal systems, the amygdaloid complex, the pituitary gland, the habenula, and the limbic thalamic nuclei, and at the cortical level, the cingulate gyrus, the hippocampus, the parahippocampal gyrus, and the prepiriform cortex are directly associated with this central continuum (Fig. 2.1).

Terminology and Anatomical Methods Neurons are grouped together as a nuclear group or nucleus (abbreviated Ncl.) if their cell bodies are close together and if they have the same connections from or to other brain areas, possess the same transmitters, or have other common characteristics. The axonal connections of a nuclear group to another brain structure are called projections. An efferent represents output from one nucleus to another; inputs to a nucleus are afferents. The location of neurons or nuclear groups, their positional relationships, and directional designations are described in anatomy relative to the body. Thus, neu-



Fig. 2.1 a Main structures of the limbic system with fiber connections in a medial view of the right hemisphere (modified after Nieuwenhuys et al. 1988). Rostral is on the left. Internal structures include nuclei in the subcortical telencephalon (nucleus accumbens Nacc, septum and basal forebrain Sept/bas VH, amygdaloid complex Amy, hippocampus Hipp), diencephalon (thalamus Thal with habenula Hab, hypothalamus Hyp with mammillary body Mam), and brainstem (periaqueductal gray PAG, tegmentum Teg, ncl. interpeduncularis

Int, locus coeruleus LC, raphe nuclei Raph, reticular formation RF; stria term = stria terminalis). The orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and insular cortex **b**, **c** are limbic cortices. Adjacent to the ACC is the midcingular cortex (MCC). **b** Detail of the lateral view of the left temporal, frontal, and frontoparietal cortex. The dashed line indicates the area showing the underlying insular cortex in **c**. The temporal operculum (Ot), frontal (Ot), and fronto-parietal operculum (Of-p) cover the insular cortex (Ins)

rons are referred to as cells or groups of cells located *dorsally*, to the back or upper side, or *ventrally*, to the front or lower side. Structures located on the midline are median; they are *medial* if located close to the midline or *lateral* if located sideward. Structures located toward the tip of the frontal lobe are called *rostral* or, in humans, cranial, and those located to the back of the brain are called *caudal*. Within a nuclear group, subdivisions are often made representing a front or *anterior* portion, a hind or posterior portion, and a lower or *inferior* portion and an upper or *superior* portion.

In the following, the limbic structures in the rostrocaudal order of the subcortical structures of the end brain (telencephalon), the interbrain (diencephalon), the midbrain (mesencephalon), and the medulla oblongata, followed by the major cortical limbic centers of the prefrontal cortex including the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), and the insular cortex. The term brainstem subsumes the midbrain, pons, and medulla oblongata.

The anatomical connectivity (tracer) studies mentioned originate predominantly from experiments on macaque monkeys, only in a few cases data from rodents are cited. Cytological or immunohistochemical studies, as well as connectivity studies using imaging techniques, represent to a lesser extent the findings in humans. The taxon "primate" is used when homologous brain structures of monkeys and humans are presented.

2.1.1 Septal Region

The septum is a thin membrane in the middle of the brain between the two forebrain ventricles; the septal region refers to the adjacent nervous tissue on either side of this wall and borders the left and right ventricles. It is located in the subcortical telencephalon ventral to the corpus callosum and dorsal to the ncl. accumbens.

The septal region consists of different nuclei, which are divided into a *medial* and a lateral septum. The medial septum and the Ncl. of Broca's diagonal band (NDB) with a vertical and horizontal "limb" (abbreviated vertical and horizontal NDB, respectively) form the medial septal region. Neurons of the medial septum are cytoarchitecturally similar; they bear few or no spines. The largest group of neurons has the transmitter acetylcholine (ACh), others GABA or ACh and GABA, or GABA and the calciumbinding protein parvalbumin; still other neurons glutamate (Frotscher and Léránth 1985; Kiss et al. 1990a, b; Jakab and Leranth 1995; Hajszan et al. 2004). These neurons form a local network.

The *medial* septum receives afferents from the CA1-CA3 region of the hippocampus (> Sect. 2.1.3). The medial septal neurons project to the CA1 region of the hippocampus via the powerful fiber tract of the fimbria/fornix. GABAergic and glutamatergic neurons contact GABAergic hippocampal neurons, and cholinergic neurons contact pyramidal cells in CA1. This direct septo-hippocampal loop is critically involved in learning and memory; neurons in both areas show rhythmic activity in the theta frequency band (4-12 Hz); theta oscillations accompany voluntary movements, REM sleep, and states of arousal and attention. The cholinergic connection adjusts the excitability of hippocampal neurons in novel or familiar environments, glutamatergic septal neurons are involved in the initiation of locomotion, while GABAergic neurons influence or form theta rhythm and also provide information about the intensity of sensory stimuli (reviewed in Müller and Remy 2018). GABAergic and cholinergic neurons with projection to the hippocampus modulate different aspects of contextual fear as well as pain-related (nociceptive) information. The affective nociceptive component is processed via the projection of the medial septum to the limbic cortex and then experienced as pain. Efferents of the medial septal region exist to the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC) and to the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), furthermore to the amygdala, to the Ncl. accumbens and to the spinal cord.

Reciprocal relationships exist between medial septum and lateral, posterior and medial hypothalamus, preoptic region and supramammillary nucleus. Vegetative and endocrine functions are regulated by this axis. Finally, the medial septum has reciprocal connections with dopaminergic midbrain structures as well as with cholinergic, serotonergic and noradrenergic nuclei of the brainstem (\triangleright Sect. 2.1.5) and receives afferents from the spinal cord.

The lateral septum is divided into a dorsal, intermediate and ventral part. The neurons are GABAergic and, in contrast to those of the medial septum, are covered with spines. A variety of neuropeptides as well as steroid hormones are present in the neurons. The lateral septal region, like the medial, is closely associated with the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex; however, these afferents are purely glutamatergic. In addition, the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis (BNST) and the amvgdala, hypothalamus, and limbic nuclei of the midbrain and pons project to the lateral septum. Its efferents terminate in limbic cortical and subcortical areas. Projections to the medial and lateral hypothalamus are strongly developed. Efferents also run to the preoptic region, to limbic thalamic nuclei and to nuclei of the brainstem, especially to the central gray, also called periaqueductal gray (PAG).

The lateral septum is involved in emotional-motivational behavior; for example, it controls emotional-cognitive aspects of food intake via its connections to the hypothalamus (Sweeney and Yang 2015; Carus-Cadavieco et al. 2017) as well as exploration and territorial behavior including aggressive responses (Toth et al. 2010; Oldfield et al. 2015). Social fear conditioning (Zoicas et al. 2014) and social interaction in substance use disorders (Zernig and Pinheiro 2015) are regulated by a network between the ncl. accumbens, amygdala, midbrain dopaminergic nuclei, medial and lateral septum. Maternal caregiving behavior is also controlled by the lateral septum (Zhao and Gammie 2014); sexual and reproductive behavior is influenced via a projection of the lateral septum to the PAG (Tsukahara and Yamanouchi 2001; Veening et al. 2014).

The basal forebrain is located ventral to the septal region and the BNST and is a cholinergic cell group that extends ventrally to the Ncl. accumbens and dorsally to the amygdala from rostral to caudal. In the basal forebrain, four groups of cholinergic neurons are distinguished: in addition to the Ncl. basalis Meynert (CH4 group), cholinergic neurons are found in the medial septal nucleus (CH1 group) and the NDB (vertical NDB CH2 and horizontal NDB CH3 group). The Ncl. basalis Meynert receives input from limbic frontal, insular and temporal cortical areas, from the septal nuclei, the Ncl. accumbens and ventral pallidum, the amygdala, the hypothalamus and the parabrachial nucleus in the brainstem. In addition to projecting to the hippocampus, CH1 cells project to the interpeduncular nucleus, CH2 cells also project to the hypothalamus and dopaminergic midbrain. The projection of CH3 cells is to the olfactory bulb, that of CH4 cells to the basal amygdala as well as to the isocortex.

Functions of cholinergic projections involve learning and extinction of contextual or stimulus-associated fear responses in cortico-amygdalar and cortico-hippocampal circuits (Knox 2016; Wilson and Fadel 2017), as well as regulation of sleep-wake rhythms (Yang et al. 2017). Cholinergic modulation of attentional processes occurs via "topdown" control of the PFC over sensory cortical areas. In Alzheimer's disease or Parkinson's disease with dementia, degeneration of cholinergic neurons, especially of the CH2 and CH4 groups, leads to attentional deficits, memory loss, language impairment, and, as degeneration progresses, further emotional-cognitive dysfunction (Liu et al. 2015; Ballinger et al. 2016).

2.1.2 Amygdala

The amygdala has historically been considered part of the limbic system, with predominant connections to the hypothalamus and brainstem. However, neuroanatomical studies from the last three decades show that the amygdala forms an extensive network with a variety of cortical and subcortical brain regions. The concept of the extended amygdala was developed by neuroanatomists Alheid and Heimer (1988) and includes, in addition to the classical amygdala nuclei, the aforementioned BNST and other nuclei lying between the amygdala and BNST. The extended amygdala complex is a heterogeneous group of nuclei located in the medial temporal lobe rostral to the hippocampal formation. There is little information on the anatomical connectivities of the amygdala in humans. However, the anatomical structure and connectivities of the macaque monkey amygdala are considered homologous to humans.

The following account of the classification of the nuclei of the amygdaloid complex is largely based on work in primates and follows the nomenclature of Freese and Amaral (2009). Up to 13 nuclei and cortical regions belong to the amygdaloid complex. They are divided into a deep and a superficial nuclear group. The deep lying group includes the lateral, basal, accessory basal, and paralaminar ncl; collectively, the lateral, basal, and accessory basal nuclei of the deep group are referred to as the basolateral group. The superficial group includes the medial, anterior, and posterior cortical ncl. as well as the ncl. of the lateral olfactory tract and the periamygdaloid ncl.; this nuclear group is also called the cortical nucleus without the medial ncl. or the *corticomedial nucleus* with it. The remaining nuclei are the anterior amygdaloid area, the central ncl. also called the central amygdala, the amygdalo-hippocampal area, and the nuclei intercalares (Freese and Amaral 2009). Central and medial nuclei are also grouped together as the *centromedial group*, depending on the author and species studied.

2.1.2.1 Deep Nuclei (Basolateral Group)

The lateral nucleus is subdivided into a dorsal, an intermediate and a ventral part due to the cell density and size of the neurons and its immunoreactivity for the acetylcholinedegrading enzyme AChE. The dorsal lateral nucleus is considered a polysensory part of the lateral nucleus because of its inputs from the sensory cortex. Its neurons project to the more densely located and more AchEimmunoreactive neurons of the ventral lateral nucleus. The *basal nucleus* is divided into a dorsal and caudal magnocellular part with large neurons, an intermediate part, and a small-cell, so-called parvicellular part, which is located most ventrally and rostrally. The flow of information within the basal nucleus is from the dorsally to the ventrally located neurons. The accessory basal nucleus is located most medially of all four nuclei of the deep group, and here, too, a more AChE-reactive magnocellular neuronal group and densely packed, strongly AChE-reactive neurons are found in the ventromedial part. The paralaminar nucleus is located at the ventral and rostral edges of the amygdaloid complex and is connected to the lateral and basal nuclei.

2.1.2.2 Superficial Nuclei (Corticomedial Group)

The *medial nucleus* lies within the amygdaloid complex caudally. It has a larger proportion of GABAergic neurons. The *posterior cortical nucleus* is also located caudally within the amygdaloid complex. The *anterior cortical nucleus* is rostral to the medial nucleus and is demarcated from the medial nucleus, which has a demarcated layer II, because of its fusion of layers II and III. The *nucleus of the lateral olfactory tract* lies in the rostral part of the amygdaloid complex and is characterized by intense immunoreactivity for AChE. The *periamygdaloid nucleus*, also known as the periamygdaloid cortex, is located superficially medial and extends almost completely from rostral to caudal in the amygdaloid complex.

2.1.2.3 Central Amygdala and the Intercalated Nuclei

The *central nucleus* is located in the caudal half and is divided into medial and lateral divisions based on cytoarchitecture. The medial division is heterogeneous in terms of cell size and density, whereas the lateral division is more uniform in cell size and more densely packed. The prominent feature of the central nucleus is the presence of GABAergic neurons; accordingly, the projections of the central nucleus act predominantly inhibitory. In primates, the nuclei intercalares form a continuous inhibitory network of GABAergic neurons that lies between the basal nuclei and extends to the dorsally located anterior nuclei and the central and medial nuclei of the amygdaloid complex. Spinv neurons are found in greater numbers than smooth neurons.

The *BNST*, together with parts of the amygdaloid complex, is considered to be the "extended amygdala" and shares some similarities in terms of connections and chemoarchitecture (especially the presence of GABAergic neurons) with the central and medial nuclei of the amygdala. In humans, the BNST is divided into lateral, medial, central, and ventral portions and exhibits sexual dimorphism with up to 2.5-fold higher volume in males.

2.1.2.4 Intrinsic Connectivities of the Amygdalar Nuclei

The nuclei of the amygdaloid complex are closely interconnected. The lateral nucleus has projections to all other amygdalar nuclei; those to the basal, accessory basal, and periamygdaloid nuclei are particularly pronounced. The connection of the lateral to the central nucleus of the amygdala is weaker than that of the basal. In addition, the basal nucleus projects primarily to the medial and anterior cortical nuclei. Within the amygdala, the flow of information is generally from lateral to medial. The amygdala is connected to a variety of subcortical and cortical regions via the amvgdalofugal fiber tract and stria terminalis. The fibers of the amygdaloid complex gather to form the ventral amygdalofugal fiber tract from rostral to caudal at the dorsomedial edge of the amygdala, while the stria terminalis is formed by fibers ventromedially in the caudal amygdala.

2.1.2.5 Extrinsic Connectivities and Functions of the Amygdalar Nuclei

The connections of the nuclei of the amygdaloid complex are primarily to the limbic cortical areas, to the other limbic subcortical brain structures, and to the thalamus and brainstem. The amydalar complex is involved in a variety of cognitive, emotional and affective-vegetative functions (• Fig. 2.2).

Olfactory System

The olfactory bulb and also the piriform cortex send axons to the anterior cortical nucleus, the nucleus of the lateral olfactory tract, and the periamygdaloid nucleus (Turner et al. 1978); the latter two nuclei also project to the olfactory bulb.

Connections to Areas of the Cortex

The majority of the basolateral group receives inputs from numerous areas in the frontal, insular, cingulate, and temporal cortex; extensive projections to a larger number of cortical areas (Brodmann areas, abbreviated BA) also originate from it. In general, the connections of the rostral areas of the cortical areas with the amygdalar nuclei are weaker. The cortical projections reach mainly the basolateral group of nuclei.



Fig. 2.2 Functional relationships of the amygdala to cortical areas (light green), subcortical telence-phalic structures (dark green) and other brain parts

(gray-blue). Reciprocal projections are indicated by arrows with two tips; the line width of the arrows indicates the strength of the connection

Inputs from the caudal OFC run stronger and more widely branched in the caudal than in the rostral amygdala. Projections from the OFC (BA 11, 13 and parts of 10, 12, 14, and 24) and from the medial prefrontal cortex (mPFC; BA 32, parts of 9, 10, 14, and 24) extend to the medial nucleus, cortical nuclei, periamygdalar nucleus, and central nucleus in addition to the basolateral group. Laterally located prefrontal areas (BA 8, 45, 46, parts of 9 and 12) as well as the premotor cortex (BA 6) projectalthough less strongly-to the basal nucleus. In terms of efferents, the basal nucleus of the amygdala has the strongest projection to the OFC and mediolateral cortex and a weaker one to the dorsolateral PFC; again, the terminations are more pronounced caudally in the OFC but also reach the frontal pole. The projection to the mPFC also emanates most strongly from the basal nucleus and less so from the accessory basal and medial nuclei and from the cortical nuclei. Only the basal nucleus has a projection, albeit small, to the dorsolateral PFC (Amaral and Insausti 1992; Carmichael and Price 1995a; Stefanacci and Amaral 2000; Ghashghaei and Barbas 2002).

The amygdala, together with the OFC and mediodorsal thalamus (\blacktriangleright Sect. 2.1.5), encodes the specific identity of a predicted outcome (stimuli and/or actions) given an individual's current state (Rudebeck and Murray 2014). The basolateral amygdala thereby provides information about current stimulus-outcome contingencies, while the OFC forms a larger network of past and current associations that the basolateral amygdala can use for future learning episodes (Sharpe and Schoenbaum 2016).

One of the most important inputs to the amygdala is from the insular cortex. Projections from the rostral part of the insula (\triangleright Sect. 2.2.3) are stronger and reach

mainly the lateral, basal, and central nuclei (Freese and Amaral 2009). Except for the central nucleus, these projections are reciprocal. Caudal portions of insular cortex project to a lesser extent to the lateral and central nuclei; a moderately pronounced reciprocal projection originates from the nuclei of the basolateral group. Reciprocal, more pronounced projections also originate from the basolateral group of nuclei of the amygdala with the rostral cingulate cortex (BA 24 and 25). However, inputs also run to a lesser extent to the anterior amygdaloid area and central nucleus.

Reciprocal relationships also exist between the temporal cortex and the basolateral group. Regions around the superior temporal gyrus and sulcus project primarily to the lateral and basal nucleus and, to a lesser extent, to the corticomedial group. Inputs from region TE in the inferior and middle temporal gyrus and the caudally located region TEO of the posterior middle temporal gyrus also reach the basolateral group (Stefanacci and Amaral 2002). Regions TE, TEO, V4, V2, and V1, which form the ventral pathway of visual cortex from occipital to temporal cortex, receive projections from the basal nucleus of the amygdala. Thereby, a rostrocaudal topography exists between the amygdala nucleus and the visual regions (Freese and Amaral 2005). Emotional facial expressions and the perception of natural sceneries activate the amygdala as well as limbic cortex areas (Sabatinelli et al. 2011). Sensory processing of emotional stimuli occurs early in the amygdala and thus may influence subsequent sensory processing in other brain areas (Pourtois et al. 2013). The context of the social environment can also be modulated via this amygdala connection for regulation of social behavior (Adolphs and Spezio 2006).

Connections with the Basal Forebrain

The basolateral group projects to the lateral regions of the cholinergic Ncl. basalis

Meynert and NDB of the basal forebrain; this projection also runs onward to other subcortical structures. The basolateral nuclei conversely receive powerful projections from the Ncl. basalis Meynert and are functionally involved in memory for contextual fear and extinction of fear. Cholinergic signaling is important in the generation of activity-dependent LTP in the amygdala and contributes to the maintenance of emotional memory content (Ballinger et al. 2016). Furthermore, the central nucleus of the amygdala projects to the Ncl. basalis Meynert, both structures have influence on fear conditioning processes (Knox 2016).

Connections with the Basal Ganglia

The amygdaloid complex, remarkably, receives no inputs from the striatum (Aggleton et al. 1980), but projects there. The basolateral group sends topographically ordered fibers to the caudate and putamen nuclei and to the ventral striatum and ncl. accumbens, respectively. Neurons of the small-cell portions of the two basal nuclei send their axons to the ncl. accumbens, while the magnocellular portions project to the caudate nucleus and rostroventral putamen, and the lateral nucleus projects to the caudoventral putamen and also to the tail of the caudate nucleus (Russchen et al. 1985).

Cho et al. (2013) distinguish three circuits that run from different cortical areas to the basal and accessory basal nuclei of the amygdala and from there to different regions of the striatum. A "primitive" pathway extends from BA 25 and 32 of the mPFC and from the agranular insula to the basal nuclei and thence to the rostral ventral striatum. This circuit presumably aligns internal emotional states with internal physiology and with motivation via attentional processes. An "intermediate" pathway runs from BA 24 and 14 of the mPFC and from the dysgranular as well as granular insula (► Sect. 2.2.3) via the basal nuclei also to the caudoventral striatum, the rostral body of the ventromedial striatum and the caudoventral putamen. This pathway may control responses to social events, as BA 24 processes social contacts, the insula processes tactile stimulation, and the striatum processes facial and eve movements. A "developed" pathway extends from the OFC and BA 10 of the mPFC to the dorsal parts of the basal nuclei. The projection then proceeds to the dorsolateral and caudal body. knee, and tail of the striatum. This latter pathway may be responsible for sensoryguided changes in behavior, as the OFC and BA 10 process more complex cognitive functions such as updating and temporal aspects of behavior, and the striatal portions reached by this pathway also receive information from auditory and visual association cortices.

The amygdala's projection to the ventral striatum is also activated during reward processing, especially when previously rewarded stimuli are attenuated (devalued), or in contexts involving the threat of punishment. Other research finds that salient rather than rewarding events lead to amygdala activation. Responses to rewarding stimuli quickly attenuate in amygdala neurons (as they do to emotional stimuli in general), in contrast to those in the nucleus accumbens (reviewed in Haber and Knutson 2010). Motivational aspects are controlled via a network that includes direct amygdalo-ventrostriatal projections as well as cortico-striato-pallidothalamic and hippocampo-striatal circuits. Actions and predictive stimuli are associated with the value of subsequent events; this larger network thus ensures adaptive behavior (Zorrilla and Koob 2013).

Connections with the Hippocampal Formation

Inputs from the hippocampus proper (the hippocampus in the strict sense, \blacktriangleright Sect. 2.1.3) originate primarily in the CA1 region and travel to the basal and cortical nuclei and to the paralaminar and periamygdaloid nuclei. The dentate gyrus does not appear to have direct connections with the amygdala.

The projections from the amygdala to the CA1, CA2, and CA3 regions of the hippocampus are much stronger than those to the amygdala and originate from basal and cortical nuclei, while a projection from the basal and periamygdaloid nuclei also runs to the border region of the subiculum and CA1.

The entorhinal cortex (\triangleright Sect. 2.1.3) also projects to the lateral, basal, and periamygdaloid nuclei. In particular, the basal nucleus sends robust projections to the subiculum, para- and presubiculum of the hippocampal formation. Similarly, the lateral nucleus sends efferents to the parasubiculum, but influences the hippocampus proper primarily via a robust projection to the entorhinal cortex. Consolidation of memory content and reinforcement of declarative content of emotional events as well as (contextual) fear conditioning and extinction are important functions based on amygdalo-hippocampal interactions (McDonald and Mott 2017).

Connections to the Thalamus

Inputs from the thalamus to the basolateral group, medial nucleus, and central nucleus of the amygdala originate from the midline thalamic nuclei, e.g., the paraventricular and paratenial nuclei, which are activated during stressful situations, anxiety, and other affective behaviors. Projections of the thalamus from the Ncl. reuniens, the largest nucleus of the midline thalamic nuclei, and the intralaminar thalamic nuclei run to the medial, cortical, and central nuclei of the amygdala in addition to the basal nuclei. Strong inputs to the amygdala also arise from the nucleus centralis complex of the intralaminar thalamic nuclei (Aggleton et al. 1980; Mehler 1980).

The medial and central nuclei of the amygdala send projections to the reuniens nucleus. The latter has a massive connection to the hippocampus and limbic cortex areas, especially the mPFC (Vertes et al. 2015). The amygdala also projects strongly to the mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus (► Sect.

2.1.5); the axons of the different amygdala nuclei terminate there separately (Russchen et al. 1987). The mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in turn has strong reciprocal relationships with limbic cortex areas, especially the mPFC, OFC, and insula. Similarly, the medial nucleus of the amygdala sends fibers to the central nuclei of the intralaminar thalamic nuclei, which are involved in attention and sensorimotor functions.

Reciprocal relationships exist between the amygdala and the pulvinar. The pulvinar is located in the caudal thalamus and has a strong connection to the visual cortex and is part of the visual attention system. The central nucleus projects to the pulvinar (Price and Amaral 1981), and the lateral nucleus of the amygdala receives a projection from the medial pulvinar (Aggleton et al. 1980).

Connections with the Hypothalamus

Strong reciprocal relationships exist between the ventromedial nucleus of the hypothalamus and the basal nuclei, central nucleus, and medial nucleus of the amygdala. The lateral hypothalamic region projects to the medial and central nuclei and to the cortical nuclei. The lateral mammillary nucleus of the hypothalamus innervates the central nucleus, and the supramammillary region innervates the medial nucleus.

The medial nucleus and parts of the cortical nuclei of the amygdala project to the preoptic region, the anterior hypothalamus, and to pre- and supramammillary regions of the hypothalamus. A strong projection of the central nucleus runs to the lateral hypothalamus and mammillary body. Neuroendocrine control, autonomic and visceral control, and defensive responses are major functions regulated by the amygdalo-hypothalamic axis.

Connections with the Brain Stem

In the central nucleus of the amygdala, dopaminergic projections terminate from the substantia nigra and the ventral tegmental area (VTA) of the midbrain, while the lateral and medial nuclei receive inputs from the peripeduncular nucleus. Inputs to the amygdaloid complex also originate from the serotonergic dorsal raphe nucleus and the PAG.

The central nucleus of the amygdala in turn sends projections to the dopaminergic midbrain nuclei, to the PAG and to the dorsal raphe nucleus and the ncl. raphe magnus. Reciprocal projections are also found between the central nucleus, the parabrachial nucleus, and the noradrenergic locus coeruleus. The central nucleus also projects to the reticular formation and to regions of the medulla oblongata up to the cervical spinal cord (Price and Amaral 1981; Amaral et al. 1982; Price 2003). Because the central nucleus has many GABAergic neurons, many of these long-descending projections to the brainstem likely have inhibitory effects. The connections of the central amygdala with the brainstem serve to regulate autonomic, visceral, and motor functions such as respiration, blood circulation, and defensive, avoidance, and escape behaviors.

2.1.2.6 Summary of the Functional Aspects of the Amygdaloid Complex

The amygdala is globally involved in emotional processing and is involved in motivation and memory. Information about external stimuli and the internal state of the organism is integrated by it and exerts an emotional influence on behavior via projection to other subcortical structures. This concerns olfactory signals directly mediated by the olfactory system and sensory information indirectly interconnected via the thalamus, such as taste, sight, hearing, touch. Vegetative centers, cardiovascular and respiratory centers from the brainstem as well as the hypothalamic neuroendocrine centers, visceral states and defensive reactions inform the amygdala about the internal state. The amygdala receives information about aspects of aggression and motivation processed in the septum and basal forebrain. These events and states influence actions. motivation, and reward behavior via projections to the dorsal and ventral striatum, anxiety via projections to the BNST, and learning and memory via those to the hippocampal formation.

The amygdala is strongly associated with the OFC and the mediodorsal PFC. These areas associate changes in the sensory environment relative to an individual's predicted and current state, mediating social signals to the amygdala, which influences social behavior via its projection to these cortices. The connections between the amygdala and insular cortex serve to detect and avoid danger in the environment as well as to regulate vegetative information. The recognition of emotional facial expressions and natural sceneries are integrated into behavior via the interaction between temporal visual areas and the amygdala. The amygdala is active in negative and positive emotional processing as well as in aversive and appetitive learning. However, it is unclear which nuclear groups and connections of the amygdala are relevant for appetitive, i.e. reward-oriented, signal processing (Correia and Goosens 2016: Kolada et al. 2017).

2.1.2.7 The Role of the BNST

The BNST is considered an important structure for fear responses in the presence of danger and for danger monitoring; it initiates the stress-relevant HPA (pituitary-hypothalamicadrenal) axis in stress responses involving the medial PFC. In this context, the BNST appears to be activated in both imagined and actual danger, whereas the amygdala is activated only in the latter situation (Lebow and Chen 2016). The BNST is involved in an extensive limbic network via its connections, so that it is involved in many other functions such as mood, attention, sleep, appetite, but also in social interaction and reproductive behaviour (Lebow and Chen 2016).

2.1.3 Hippocampal Formation

The hippocampus proper is an elongated structure deep in the medial temporal lobe

that resembles a seahorse (Greek hippocampus) in cross-section. It consists of four morphologically distinct subregions: the dentate gyrus (DG), the ammonic horn, Latin cornu ammonis. (CA) with four fields CA1 to CA4, presubiculum, and subiculum (Amaral and Lavenex 2006). The CA4 region is located in the inner curvature of the DG and is also referred to as CA4/DG in the primate brain. Based on neurochemical features, in primates the subiculum complex is divided into a prosubiculum and an actual subiculum (collectively referred to as the subiculum), a presubiculum and postsubiculum (collectively referred to as the presubiculum), and a parasubiculum. The subiculum complex is located between the hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. The three main subicular parts are characterized by different connections and functions. While the subiculum is the main output structure of the hippocampal formation and is involved in encoding and retrieval of longterm memory content, the presubiculum has functions in spatial orientation ("landmark navigation") and, together with the anterior thalamic nucleus. lateral mammillary nucleus, and retrosplenial cortex (BA 29, 30), is a main structure of the head orientation system. The parasubiculum has strong connections to the entorhinal cortex and generates theta EEG activity (reviewed in Ding 2013), i.e., the cells fire at a frequency of 4-12 Hz. Theta frequency oscillation is generated locally in the hippocampus and by the septo-hippocampal circuit. In the EEG, it is measurable in REM sleep and during exploratory behavior in rats.

Based on the size and morphology of glutamatergic pyramidal cells as the major cell types of hippocampal circuits, two main regions, CA1 and CA3, can be distinguished. A trisynaptic pathway extends from the DG to CA1 and CA3; axons of the DG pass through the CA4 region to CA3. The entorhinal cortex, which is properly located upstream of the hippocampus, sends axons via the so-called *perforant pathway* to the granule cells of the DG, whose axons in turn terminate on the CA3 pyramidal cells via the so-called mossy fiber tract. The axons of the latter neurons form the Schaffer collateral pathway, which runs back to the subiculum and then to the entorhinal cortex. In addition to CA1, the axons of CA3 cells project to other CA3 neurons via axon collaterals, forming a recurrent collateral pathway. The CA3 region is therefore also considered to be an autoassociative, i.e., self-referral, memory system (Yau et al. 2015). CA3 cells also project back to the DG dentatus via excitatory mossy cells, so the pathways are not exclusively unidirectionally organized. In addition, recent data show that the CA2 region, previously considered a transition zone, represents a distinct functional unit equivalent to the CA1 and CA3 regions (Ding et al.

2010). CA2 and CA4 neurons are preferentially affected by degeneration processes in diseases such as chronic traumatic encephalopathy (McKee et al. 2016).

Connections of the Hippocampal Formation

The parahippocampal region adjacent to the hippocampus proper comprises the entorhinal (BA 28), the parahippocampal (temporal areas TH and TF according to von Economo 1929) and the perirhinal cortex (BA 35, 36). The input structure for the hippocampus proper is the entorhinal cortex, which in turn has reciprocal connections with the perirhinal and parahippocampal cortex. The latter two cortices also project to each other. The perirhinal cortex is reciprocally connected with visual (associative) areas such as TE, TEO, and V4; however, it also has direct connections with the CA1 region and the subiculum. The parahippocampal cortex has reciprocal connections with the aforementioned visual cortical areas as well as with parietal and cingulate cortices. The parahippocampal cortex also has a direct input to the CA1 region and the subiculum.

The strongest hippocampal projections originate from the CA1 region and the

subiculum complex; only the projections to the septum and ncl. accumbens also contain information from the CA3 region. Four groups of different efferents can be distinguished. Projections to the retrosplenial cortex, anterior, lateral dorsal, and midline nuclei of the thalamus, and mammillary bodies run almost exclusively from the subiculum; pre- and parasubiculum contribute partially. A second projection originates equally from the subiculum and CA1 and to a lesser extent from the pre- and parasubiculum; it reaches the OFC (BA 11, 13) and the mPFC (BA 14, 25, 32) in the PFC, the amygdala as well as areas TE and TG in the temporal cortex. Efferents of the third group originate from the CA1 region and the subiculum and extend to the entorhinal. perirhinal, and parahippocampal cortex. The fourth group of projections from the CA3 and CA1 regions reach the septum, the vertical limb of Broca's diagonal band, and the ncl. accumbens (Friedman et al. 2002; Aggleton 2012; Aggleton et al. 2012).

The discovery of *place cells* in the hippocampus and their associated *grid cells* in the entorhinal cortex of rats provided a picture of the origin of spatial orientation and the formation of spatial memory and explained spatial orientation deficits following hippocampal lesions. Functionally, studies in humans and animals revealed that the anterior hippocampus is involved within a larger network in *non-spatial functions* such as context coding, attention or reward expectation and the posterior (dorsal in rodents) part in *spatial navigation* or memory of spatial arrangements of a scene (Viard et al. 2011; Nadel et al. 2013).

2.1.4 Basal Ganglia and Mesolimbic System

In the telencephalon, the basal ganglia include the corpus striatum, which is composed of the caudate nucleus, the putamen and the ventral striatum including the accumbens nucleus, and the globus pallidus. In the diencephalon, this includes the subthalamic nucleus and in the midbrain the substantia nigra, which in turn forms a functional unit with the ventral tegmental area. The basal ganglia are divided into a dorsal part with executive and sensorimotor functions, which prepares and controls motor actions, and a ventral part, which has emotional and motivational functions and belongs to the limbic system (for an overview, see Haber et al. 2012).

Nucleus Caudatus/Putamen

The caudate nucleus and the putamen together form a large subcortical structure and are separated from each other by the fiber tracts of the internal capsule and are directly contiguous only in the rostral part. The caudate nucleus lies medial to the putamen, is divided into a head, body and tail, and extends around the putamen from dorsal to ventrolateral.

The majority of neurons in the caudate nucleus and putamen are medium *spiny* cells, densely *spiny* in the middle and distal regions of the dendritic tree, and are therefore referred to as *medium spiny cells*. They possess the transmitter GABA and project inhibitory to the dorsal pallidum, substantia nigra and VTA. The interneurons of the striatum are cholinergic or GABAergic and immunoreactive for a number of neuropeptides and proteins such as neurotensin, enkephalin, somatostatin, substance P, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), neuropeptide Y, calbindin and parvalbumin, and for NADPH diaphorase.

The striatum in primates exhibits compartmentalization into striosomes (also called *patches*) and a matrix (Graybiel and Ragsdale Jr 1978). The striosomes account for 10–20% of the cell mass and are 300– 600 μ m wide islands with low density of the enzyme acetylcholine esterase (AChE) and high density of opioid receptors, as well as high immunoreactivity for GABA, enkephalin, substance P and neurotensin. In con-

trast, the intervening matrix has a high density of AChE and strong calbindin and somatostatin immunoreactivity. This subdivision is distinct in the head of the caudate nucleus, where associative and limbic afferents enter, but only weakly evident in the posterior part and in the putamen with sensorimotor inputs. Striosomes specifically receive projections from the OFC, ACC, and insular cortex, while the matrix receives afferents from the entire frontal areas (Eblen and Graybiel 1995). The projections originating from the limbic cortical areas terminate insularly within the striatum; therefore, so-called microcircuits are thought to exist between the different cortical areas and striatum. At the same time, the insular projections of interconnected PFC areas overlap in the striatum, so that intra-cortical projections may also be represented in the striatum.

Ncl. Accumbens/Ventral Striatum

The ncl. accumbens comprises the rostral ventromedial part of the striatum and, together with the rostrally located olfactory tubercle and the ventrally located parts of the ncl. caudatus and putamen, is also considered the limbic part of the basal ganglia. It is anatomically and immunohistochemically subdivided into a ventromedial part, called shell, and a core, where the shell forms the dorsal and central part of the ncl. accumbens. The latter region is connected to the ventromedial part of the caudate nucleus and has similar histochemical features. The division into nucleus and shell is evident in primates only by the detection of histochemical markers (Meredith et al. 1996; Holt et al. 1997; Brauer et al. 2000). Patches of immunoreactivity for enkephalin or opioid receptors are found throughout the ncl. accumbens/ventral striatum. The shell shows stronger immunoreactivity for neurotensin and AChE and moderate calbindin and strong calretinin immunoreactivity, as well as weak presence of opioid receptors, whereas the core shows strong calbindin and only weak calretinin

immunoreactivity, as well as strong presence of opioid receptors. The core region of the ncl. accumbens receives afferents from the OFC (BA 12, 13), whereas the shell region receives projections from the subgenual and pregenual cingulate cortex (BA 25) (Haber et al. 1995). Based on the cortical projections, there is thus a separation, albeit not complete, into an *associative* territory in the medial part of the caudate nucleus and putamen with input from the lateral OFC and dorsal PFC, and a *limbic* territory in the ventral striatum with input from the limbic cortex areas (Buot and Yelnik 2012).

Subcortical inputs to the striatum originate from the basolateral amygdala primarilv to the head of the ncl. caudatus and to a lesser extent to the anterior and ventral parts of the putamen; these inputs did not differ with respect to their termination in the striosome matrix portions of the striatum. In the ncl. accumbens, projections from the anterior part of the basolateral amygdala reach the core region, and projections from the posterior part together with those from the central amygdala reach the shell region of the ncl. accumbens. Again, an insular distribution of afferents is found. The hippocampal formation innervates the ncl. accumbens excitatory, further afferents originate from the limbic midline nuclei and intralaminar nuclei of the thalamus.

The Ncl. accumbens-ventral striatum complex is involved in dopaminergic circuits with the midbrain nuclei. Striosomes receiving limbic information project to the dopaminergic neurons of the substantia nigra pars compacta (SNc); the latter form afferents to the striosomes and matrix. Through a series of circuits between the striatum and SNc, ventral striatal regions can influence dorsal striatal regions and relay information between limbic medially located neurons and motor laterally located neurons (Haber et al. 2000). Substantia nigra and VTA connect the motor and limbic parts of the basal ganglia, which, remarkably, have no direct connections to each other.

Globus Pallidus

The globus pallidus, also known as the pallidum for short, consists of an external and internal segment, which, like the striatum, is divided into a dorsal motor and a ventral limbic part. The latter, together with the ventral striatum/ncl. accumbens complex, forms the ventral striato-pallidal system. The primate ventral pallidum is a crescentshaped structure whose external segment is rich in enkephalin immunoreactivity and lies ventral to the commissura anterior. The globus pallidus contains predominantly GABAergic neurons that also express calretinin, calbindin, parvalbumin, neuropeptide Y, or somatostatin. The GABAergic neurons are strongly occupied by GABAergic boutons-they are therefore inhibited in turn.

The projections of the ncl. accumbens to the ventral pallidum are topographically ordered. The limbic portion of the pallidum has a ventromedial portion that is rich in neurotensin and receives afferents from the shell region of the ncl. accumbens. This projection from the ncl. accumbens continues to the extended amygdala and lateral hypothalamus. A projection from the lateral part of the shell region and the olfactory tubercle runs to a ventrolateral subregion that is devoid of neurotensin. The core region of the ncl. accumbens projects to a ventrolateral part of the ventral pallidum with strong calbindin immunoreactivity. Cholinergic neurons in the ventral pallidum also receive GABAergic input from the ncl. accumbens, are locally interconnected, and project to the basolateral amygdala and PFC. Efferents from the ventral pallidum to the ncl. accumbens originate equally from the dorsolateral and ventromedial portions of the ventral pallidum and reach the shell or core of the ncl. accumbens. Efferents to the basolateral amygdala originate mainly from cholinergic neurons in the ventral pallidum regulated by mu, kappa, and delta opioid receptors. Some of these cholinergic neurons also innervate the PFC and entorhinal cortex: however,

these do not appear to possess *kappa* or *delta opioid receptors*, so separate cholinergic ventropallidal projections to them appear to exist.

The neurons of the ventral pallidum have dopaminergic D1, D2, and D3 receptors. The dopaminergic inputs to the ventral pallidum are topographically ordered; a projection of the lateral VTA runs to the rostral, ventromedial, dorsolateral, and ventrolateral portions of the ventral pallidum, and that of the midline portion of the VTA to the medial ventral pallidum. Afferents from the substantia nigra are sparse.

The striosome and matrix neurons of the dorsal striatum form a so-called direct pathway through their projection to the internal segment of the dorsal pallidum to the substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr) and an indirect pathway via the external segment of the dorsal pallidum to the subthalamic thalamus. which from there runs to the internal segment of the globus pallidus and further to the SNr. The majority of neurons projecting to the dorsal pallidum show immunoreactivity for GABA, neurotensin, and enkephalin and possess dopaminergic D2 receptors, whereas the majority of cells projecting to the SNc and SNr show immunoreactivity for GABA, dynorphin, neurotensin, and substance P and have dopaminergic D1 receptors. It is as yet unclear whether the strong efferent projection of the nucleus and core region of the ncl. accumbens also exhibits organization into a direct and indirect pathway.

Further subcortical connections exist to the thalamus and brainstem. Efferents of the ventral pallidum also reach the reticular nucleus of the thalamus. Another projection leads to the lateral habenula, which in turn projects to the mesopontine rostromedial tegmental nucleus (formerly also called the *tail of* the VTA), which is reciprocally connected to the ventral pallidum (Zahm and Root 2017). A projection to the lateral hypothalamus is topographically organized from medial to lateral; the ventral pallidum is also involved in the circuits of the medial preoptic nucleus. Projections exist to the pedunculopontine tegmental nucleus.

Functions of Limbic Circuits

The different functions within the ncl. accumbens/ventral pallidum complex are outlined in a review by Root et al. (2015) based on pharmacological microinjections into the ventral pallidum. The ventral pallidum is involved in a variety of motor behaviors such as unconscious reflexes. but also volitional actions, learning and memory, or reward-motivated actions. Consummatory behaviors such as food intake, food preference and taste responses, but also caring behaviors are also influenced by the ventral pallidum. Cognitive aspects during sensorimotor filtering mechanisms in the startle reflex, working memory and associative learning are affected in pharmacological microlesion, as well as reward mechanisms during self-stimulation and aversive behavior are regulated by ventral pallidal circuits.

The ventral striatum/ncl. accumbens appears to be more active in impulsive choice behavior than in inhibition of actions to be performed. However, the ncl. accumbens is not solely responsible for the regulation of impulsive behavior. In general, the pattern of neuronal activation in the ncl. accumbens appears to be partly genetically determined, partly learned, and has a strong influence on differences in impulsivity among individuals. Dopamine release by the VTA influences the strength of the neuronal representation and selection of the fronto-temporal limbic input to the ncl. accumbens and, via it, promotes either impulsive or controlled behavior depending on the relationship (contingency) of stimulus and reward, response and outcome (Basar et al. 2010).

Berridge and Kringelbach (2013) localize so-called hotspots in the ncl. accumbens and ventral pallidum, which are active for certain *hedonic aspects* such as liking and pleasure, while *wanting and craving for rewards* is represented in a larger and distributed dopaminergic network. Activation for valence (appetence and aversion) is also localized in the ncl. accumbens, which generates corresponding intense motivation in the presence of positively valenced wanting or negatively valenced fear. Graded mixtures of affective wanting-fear activations are found in microstimulation along a rostrocaudal axis in the medial shell region; namely, from rostral beginning with desire for food to caudal with fearful fear responses. Subjective, consciously experienced pleasure, on the other hand, is encoded in the OFC, where there are also hedonic hotspots (Berridge and Kringelbach 2015).

Functions of the Basal Ganglia

The dorsal and ventral parts of the basal ganglia and their circuits are involved in motor and limbic functions, respectively. Initial models of cortical projections to the basal ganglia assumed five separate circuits that exist between frontal, oculomotor, dorsolateral frontal, lateral orbitofrontal, and anterior cingulate cortex and distinct regions in the striatum, pallidum/substantia nigra, and thalamus before returning to the cortical output area (e.g., Alexander and Crutcher 1990). However, the ventral striatum also receives inputs from auditory and visual associative parietal areas and from the temporal gyrus, so that a division into a limbic, an associative, and a sensorimotor territory is assumed (Parent and Hazrati 1995). The basal ganglia play a role in response and selection processes of declarative and procedural memory. The ncl. accumbens and olfactory tubercle are involved in unconditioned and conditioned responses. The ventral striatum supports selection and response during instrumental learning. Goaldirected actions and habits are controlled by the dorsal striatum (da Cunha et al. 2012; Liljeholm and O'Doherty 2012).

2.1.5 Thalamus

In the thalamus, three major cell masses are classically distinguished, namely so-called relay nuclei, limbic midline and intralaminar nuclei, and associative nuclei (Price 1995; Jones 1998; Groenewegen and Witter 2004). The relay nuclei receive sensory and motor information via ascending modality-specific pathways and project to distinct regions in the cortex. They are also referred to as specific nuclei. They include the lateral and medial geniculate complex (LGN, MGN), ventral posteromedial and posterolateral nuclei, a posterior nucleus, a ventral lateral, ventral anterior, and ventral medial nucleus. The associative nuclei consist of the mediodorsal, anterior, submedial, and lateral nuclei. They receive inputs from the somatosensory cortex and mediate these to associative cortical areas.

The *limbic* nuclei areas were originally called "nonspecific" because they have wideranging projections and could not be assigned a specific function. However, midline and intralaminar nuclei each receive specific afferent projections from the brainstem, and these nuclei in turn project to specific and poorly overlapping regions of the cortex and striatum (Pereira de Vasconcelos and Cassel 2015). The reticular nucleus of the thalamus is a separate complex that inhibits and modulates the thalamic relay nuclei and is under the control of topographically organized afferents from the cortex and thalamus and disseminated afferents from the basal forebrain and brainstem (Guillery and Harting 2003).

The midline nuclei and the intralaminar nuclei are spatially separated, the former along the midline and the latter within a medullary lamina. The midline nuclei consist of the rhomboid nucleus, a periventricular area, the intermediodorsal nucleus, paraventricular nucleus, nucleus reuniens, and paratenial nucleus. The intralaminar nuclei include various central and parafascicular nuclei.

Nucleus Reuniens and Nucleus Rhomboideus

The largest midline nucleus is the ncl. reuniens. Inputs originate from the medial PFC (mPFC), anterior cingulate cortex, insular cortex, hippocampal formation, medial and anterior amygdala, lateral septum, and parts of the basal forebrain. Thalamic inputs from the reticular nucleus, corpus geniculatum laterale, and hypothalamic nuclei, as well as the brainstem (dopaminergic, serotonergic, and noradrenergic inputs; superior colliculus, periaqueductal gray, reticular formation, and other afferents) also reach this nucleus. Inputs to the rhomboid nucleus from the brainstem also originate from transmitter-specific nuclei and the reticular formation; from the cortex, projections originate from the mPFC and cingulate cortex as well as motor cortices and primary somatosensory cortex (Vertes et al. 2015).

Projections from the ncl. reuniens run to the rostral forebrain, especially to limbic cortices, most strongly to the mPFC. A topographically ordered projection runs to the CA1 region of the hippocampus and to the cortex surrounding it; a smaller proportion of neurons project parallel to the mPFC and to CA1. Efferents from the rhomboid nucleus also reach the ventral limbic frontal cortices, the cingulate cortex, and by extension, parts of the dorsal and ventral striatum, the lateral septum, and the core region of the ncl. accumbens. A dense projection terminates in the CA1 region of the dorsal hippocampus and in the surrounding cortex (Vertes et al. 2015).

The two aforementioned midline nuclei modulate circadian rhythms, eating behavior, and arousal states and are involved in stress and anxiety networks. According to Cassel et al. (2013), there is evidence for the involvement of the two nuclei in cognitive functions. These performances include attention, impulsivity, avoidance memory, (spatial) working memory as well as strategy switching and behavioral flexibility. These cognitive processes are influenced by the strong reciprocal connections of the two intralaminar nuclei with the medial PFC and the hippocampus. Thus, they may be a link between the mPFC and the hippocampus. Together with the rostral intralaminar nucleus, the Ncl. reuniens and Ncl. rhomboideus form a hippocampocortico-thalamic network for the consolidation of persistent declarative memory at the systemic level (Pereira de Vasconcelos and Cassel 2015).

Dorsally located midline nuclei such as the paraventricular and paratenial nuclei have strong reciprocal connections to a medial prefrontal network consisting of BA 25, 32, and parts of BA 14 as well as adjacent regions of BA 13 (Hsu and Price 2007). The paratenial nucleus, along with the central intermedial nucleus, is also strongly connected to BA 13 and 12, that is, the orbital and medial PFC. The medial prefrontal network, particularly the subgenual cortex, controls visceral and emotional states and is also involved in anxiety disorders. The strong connection between paraventricular nuclei and subgenual cortex provides a pathway for processing stress signals in prefrontal circuits.

The paraventricular nucleus is the only thalamic nucleus with strong projections to limbic centers such as the amygdala, BNST, and cingulate cortex, which play important roles in fear, anxiety, and reward behavior. Reciprocal connections also exist between the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the hypothalamus, as the brain's circadian pacemaker, and the paraventricular nucleus, which plays a role in arousal states via its dense innervation of orexin-containing neurons (Colavito et al. 2015). Through its conparaventricular nections. the nucleus influences important limbic structures that control motivation and mood (reviewed in Hsu et al. 2014), as well as modulating functions related to chronic stress, addictive and reward behaviors through its connections to the medial PFC, ncl. accumbens and amygdala (Colavito et al. 2015). In the limbic thalamus, pain processing is modulated and emotional motor behavior is controlled (Vogt et al. 2008).

In humans, the intralaminar nuclei have been studied in their connectivities with other brain centers using diffusion tensor imaging techniques (Jang et al. 2014). In particular, the PFC and the caudate nucleus of the basal ganglia, the primary motor and premotor cortex, the posterior parietal cortex, the globus pallidus, the basal forebrain and the hypothalamus as well as the reticular formation and the pedunculopontine nucleus in the brainstem are connected to the intralaminar nuclei: the cingulate cortex. however, has only minor connections. The connections are grouped by the authors into so-called "arousal" functions to control arousal states (PFC, brainstem, basal forebrain, and hypothalamus) and, for the PFC, also into an attentional function and into sensorimotor functions (motor cortices, parietal cortex, and basal ganglia).

2.1.6 Hypothalamus

At the base of the endbrain and diencephalon, the hypothalamus, including the preoptic region, forms the middle zone, which is bounded rostrally and medially by the anterior commissure and extends caudally to the ventral tegmental area and periaqueductal gray. The hypothalamus is a bilateral collection of nuclei divided into three longitudinal zones, periventricular, medial, and lateral. In the transverse plane, the medial zone is subdivided from rostral to caudal into a preoptic, supraoptic, tuberal, and mammillary zone (Mai et al. 2016). The hypothalamus is centrally located in the brain and connects to the cerebral cortex via the medial forebrain bundle, to the hippocampus via the fornix, and to the amygdala via the stria terminalis. The thalamus connects to the hypothalamus via the mammillo-thalamic tract, and the brainstem connects via the fasciculus longitudinalis dorsalis; the retinohypothalamic tract connects the retina and hypothalamus (Bear and Bollu 2018).

The longitudinal periventricular zone has a close relationship to the pituitary gland, and accordingly neurons that secrete "releasing factors" are found in this zone. At the rostral pole of the preoptic region, at the midline, lies the *Ncl. periventricularis*, which extends caudally along the supraoptic and tuberal regions. The periventricular ncl. controls the cardiovascular system and fluid balance and projects to the supraopticparaventricular nucleus complex. Attached to the periventricular nucleus laterally is a *preoptic nucleus group*. Ventral to it is the supraoptic region; within it are a *paraventricular nucleus* adjacent to the ventricle and an anterior *lateral hypothalamic nucleus*. A *supraoptic and retrochiasmatic ncl.* join ventrally.

The tuberal region contains a *juxtapara*ventricular hypothalamic area, a dorsal hypothalamic area, a medial hypothalamic group, an arcuate ncl., a lateral tuberal ncl. and a ventrally located median eminence. The mammillary region consists of the dorsally located posterior hypothalamic nucleus, the posterior lateral hypothalamic ncl. and the ventrally located supramammillary and mammillary nucleus. Laterally, a tuberomammillary ncl. and a lateral mammillary ncl. are adjacent. Further caudally, the retromammillary area is adjacent (Ding et al. 2016).

In the anterior and tuberal hypothalamus, neuroendocrine neurons are located in the para- and periventricular ncl, the supraoptic ncl and the arcuate ncl. The hormones produced, except for the transmitter dopamine, are peptides such as oxytocin, vasopressin, releasing hormones (corticotropin, thyrotropin, growth hormone, gonadotropin), and somatostatin; these neurohormones are released into the bloodstream. The production of neuroendocrine hormones as well as the production of other non-neuroendocrine neuropeptides in other hypothalamic nuclei is regulated by a complex network of transcription factors (Alvarez-Bolado 2019).

In the preoptic region, temperature regulation and endocrine regulation of sexual behavior are carried out by the preoptic nucleus, while neuroendocrine and autonomic stress responses and secretion of vasopressin and oxytocin are regulated in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus. The suprachiasmatic nucleus (SCN) regulates circadian rhythms, and the supraoptic nucleus secretes neurohypophyseal hormones. The tuberal region includes the arcuate nucleus, which monitors food intake, cardiovascular functions, and body adipose tissue, and the dorsomedial nucleus, with control over daily food timing, emotional stress responses, and libido. The ventromedial ncl. of the tuberal region is also involved in the control of food intake, weight loss and gain, fat digestion, and sexual behavior. In the mammillary region, the posterior nucleus organizes sympathetic nervous system responses and defensive and aggressive behaviors, while the tuberomammillary nucleus controls motivated behaviors related to food, fluid, sex, and intoxicants as well as wakefulness, and the mammillary nucleus is also active in encoding episodic memory content (Barbosa et al. 2017).

Eating Behavior

The control of the energy balance as well as the storage, use and conversion of nutrients is regulated by the arcuate nucleus (Joly-Amado et al. 2014). This is located close to the blood-brain barrier and controls hunger and satiety states via signals circulating in the blood (leptin, insulin, ghrelin). POMC (proopiomelanocortin) neurons of the Ncl. arcuatus reduce food intake and increase energy expenditure, while NPY/AgRP (neuropeptide Y/agouti-related protein) neurons are appetite-stimulating and anabolic. An extensive network controls eating behavior. The Ncl. arcuatus projects to other hypothalamic nuclei, the parabrachial nucleus, VTA and Ncl. solitarius in the brainstem. The latter are connected to limbic forebrain structures such as the ncl. accumbens, which acts as a guardian for the hedonic, or pleasure, value of food (Ferrario et al. 2016). The ncl. accumbens in turn projects to the lateral hypothalamus, which translates food signalinduced motivation into eating behavior;

however, it also appears to be critical for the acquisition of signal-food associations and the retrieval of corresponding memory (Petrovich 2018). The PFC processes cognitive-emotional aspects of food signals for decision making, and dorsal parts of the basal ganglia control motor eating behavior. The amygdala and insular cortex integrate homeostatic, cognitive, and visceral inputs to modulate eating behavior (Andermann and Lowell 2017: Sweeney and Yang 2017). This network controls metabolic rate, endocrine hormone release, and ultimately food intake via the autonomic nervous system, and the hypothalamus also interfaces with motivational and cognitive aspects of eating behavior.

Sleep-Wake Rhythm

The lateral hypothalamus regulates the sleepwake rhythm via neuron populations that produce the peptide orexin/hypocretin (Ox) or the neuropeptide melanin-concentrating hormone (MCH). Ox neurons are active during wakefulness and cause a rapid shift from non-REM (rapid eye movement) to REM sleep or from REM sleep to wakefulness during sleep. Loss of Ox neurons (normal is about 70,000 neurons in humans) produces narcolepsy, an excessive sleepiness. Ox neurons have extensive projections in the brain and spinal cord and activate, for example, the dopaminergic VTA, the noradrenergic locus coeruleus, and histaminergic neurons of the tuberomammillary nucleus. Activation of brainstem and basal forebrain cholinergic neurons are also critical for maintaining wakefulness (Schwartz and Kilduff 2015). MCH neurons are also involved in the regulation of eating behavior and increase the duration of REM sleep. MCH neurons also project to all parts of the brain; they appear inhibit "waking" brain structures. to Descending connections affect the generators of REM sleep located in the pons. Together with GABAergic neurons of the preoptic region and brainstem structures, MCH neurons regulate sleep.

The SCN is a circadian zeitgeber (timer) for many physiological and biochemical factors and also for the 24-h sleep-wake rhythm. The sleep-wake rhythm is organized indirectly by the SCN via multiple pathways (Fuller et al. 2006); these reach the lateral hypothalamus via an indirect projection to the dorsomedial hypothalamic nucleus. GABAergic afferents to the lateral hypothalamus come from the preoptic nucleus, lateral septum, basal forebrain, and ncl. accumbens, whereas the ventromedial hypothalamus and PFC act glutamatergically on the lateral hypothalamus. These inputs can have depolarizing or hyperpolarizing effects on Ox and MCH neurons, depending on the synaptic connection (Yamashita and Yamanaka 2017). Functional connectivity between the hypothalamic structures for food and eating behavior and sleep and wakefulness rhythms is also evident in the fact that, for example, leptin, a hormone for satiety signaling, can inhibit Ox neurons, while ghrelin, a hormone signaling hunger, activates Ox neurons.

2.1.7 Limbic Brainstem

In this section, we describe those structures of the limbic brainstem that have important connections with the limbic brain structures already shown (• Fig. 2.3).

Periaqueductal Gray (Central Gray)

The periaqueductal gray (PAG) is located periventricularly and extends rostrocaudally from the third to the fourth ventricle in the pons. It is divided into a dorsomedial, dorsolateral, lateral, and ventrolateral longitudinal column (Bandler and Shipley 1994). Like almost all periventricularly located structures, the PAG is characterized by the presence of numerous peptidergic systems; these include fibers and/or receptors for opioids, substance P, neurotensin, somatostatin, neurophysin, oxytocin, vasopressin, VIP, CGRP, neuropeptide Y, and other peptides (reviewed in Carrive and Morgan 2012).

Afferents to the PAG originate from all regions of the PFC except the medial anterior part of the OFC, from the ACC, and from the insular cortex. The projections are topographically ordered; those from the medial PFC run to the dorsolateral column, those from the posterior OFC and anterior insular cortex to the ventrolateral column. and those from the ACC to the lateral, ventrolateral, and dorsomedial columns (An et al. 1998). According to an imaging study in humans, the ventrolateral region is predominantly connected to pain-modulating centers such as the ACC, and the lateral and dorsolateral regions are connected to executive centers such as the PFC and striatum (Coulombe et al. 2016), The network consisting of the PFC and PAG is consequently differentially organized for processing the various motivational and emotional aspects of behavior. Other strong connections come from amygdalar, limbic-thalamic, and hypothalamic nuclei; the latter are predominantly reciprocally connected to the PAG. Projections from the brainstem originate from sensory midbrain structures, from the dopaminergic, noradrenergic, and serotonergic nuclei, the ncl. solitarius, and the parabrachial nucleus. Inputs from the trigeminal nucleus and the dorsal horn of the spinal cord are somatotopically ordered, i.e., projections from the trigeminal system terminate in the rostral PAG, those from the cervical spinal cord in the intermediate and the lumbar spinal cord in the caudal PAG. This arrangement reflects the importance of processing visceral, somatic, and nociceptive inputs in the PAG (Carrive and Morgan 2012).

The efferents of the PAG do not run directly to the cortex, but terminate in the limbic thalamic nuclei, which serve as a relay station to the medial PFC, amygdala, and basal ganglia (Hsu and Price 2009). The reticular ncl. of the thalamus also receives inputs through which the influence of the



■ Fig. 2.3 a Schematic dorsal view of the left hemisphere of the brainstem. The overlying cerebellum is not shown. The midline is on the right; top is rostral. b-e Semi-schematic cross-sections through the brainstem from rostral to caudal show the gray and white matter. Major nuclei of the limbic brainstem are colored (modified from Ding et al. 2016). The serotonergic raphe nuclei (Rcl caudal linear raphe nucleus, Rd raphe dorsalis, Rm raphe medianis, Rmg raphe magnus, Rp raphe pallidus; orange) are located in the median reticular formation. Rostrally in the basal

midbrain are dopaminergic nuclei (SNc substantia nigra pars compacta, VTA ventral tegmental area). 3V/4V third/fourth ventricle, Aq aqueduct, Cs/Ci superior/inferior colliculus, GiRF gigantocellular reticular formation, IP interpeduncular nucleus, LdT/ DT laterodorsal and dorsal tegmental nuclei, LpGi lateral paragigantocellular nucleus, LRt lateral reticular nucleus, PAG periaqueductal gray, Pbm/Pbl medial and lateral parabrachial nucleus, RF reticular formation, SNr substantia nigra pars reticulata, Sol nucleus solitarius thalamic nuclei on the cortex can be modulated. The hypothalamus is an important input structure for the efferents of the PAG as are the reticular formation, the transmitterspecific brainstem nuclei, numerous premotor nucleus areas, and also the spinal cord (Carrive and Morgan 2012).

Due to its connections to the emotionrelated forebrain system and to vegetative centers, the PAG is a significant integration point for an ascending pain/body feeling system as well as for a descending limbicemotional motor system. Overall, the PAG is involved in pain modulation, cardiovascular and other autonomic processes, emotional affective behavior including defensive and panic behavior as well as sexual behavior, emotional vocalization and micturition.

Substantia Nigra and Ventral Tegmental Area

The largest accumulation of dopaminergic neurons is found in the substantia nigra (SN), the ventral tegmental area (VTA), and the retrorubral field. In humans, approximately 600,000 dopaminergic neurons are found in the midbrain, with smaller numbers in the PAG, zona incerta, hypothalamus, olfactory bulb, and retina (group A9–A17; Dahlström and Fuxe 1964). The SN is located ventrally in the midbrain and has an elongated laminar architecture containing GABAergic neurons in a ventral row (pars reticulata) and overlying dopaminergic neurons in a ventral and dorsal row (pars compacta) (McRitchie et al. 1995). The dopaminergic neurons possess the namesake black pigment neuromelanin (Double et al. 2008). The VTA is located in the reticular formation of the midbrain, dorsal and medial to the substantia nigra in the human brain. The VTA is divided into ventromedial and dorsolateral zones: the former zone merges with the retrorubal field. The neurons of the VTA are less dense and smaller than those of the substantia nigra; 50% of the

neurons of the VTA have neuromelanin.

Dopaminergic connections to the caudate ncl. and/or putamen originate from dorsal and ventral SN neurons. A mesostriatal projection originates from dorsolateral neurons of the VTA and from the retrorubral field. The latter also modulates the interaction between midbrain dopaminergic neurons via dopamine. The strong mesolimbic projection of the VTA to the Ncl. accumbens, amygdala, lateral hypothalamus and subgenual limbic PFC as well as to the dentate gyrus of the hippocampus is 75% dopaminergic and 25% GABAergic in humans; a smaller projection also extends to the septum, hippocampus and entorhinal cortex. The mesocortical projection of the VTA is 50% dopaminergic and 50% GABAergic and in primates extends to the dorsolateral PFC, motor, parietal, and temporal cortices in addition to all limbic cortices (Berger et al. 1991).

These compounds are involved in the regulation of a variety of motor and cognitive functions and promote learning and reward mechanisms. Dopamine modulates the membrane states of neurons via different receptor types (\triangleright Chap. 3). The function of the nigrostriatal projection is primarily movement control, while that of the mesolimbic/cortical projection is the control of emotional behavior and motivation (Halliday et al. 2012). Reinforcement learning, reward seeking, working memory performance, addictive behavior, action drive and motivation as well as hippocampal plasticity in learning processes are processes in which the transmitter dopamine plays an important role. Electrophysiological studies in monkeys show that dopaminergic neurons encode both positive and negative reward expectations (Satoh et al. 2003). Accordingly, they are active not only during reward and positive motivation, but also in non-reward situations such as aversive and alarming events (Bromberg-Martin et al. 2010).

Raphe Nuclei and Locus Coeruleus

The raphe nuclei are part of the median reticular formation and extend bilaterally along the midline of the tegmentum from the rostral midbrain to caudally just before the junction of the pyramidal tract. The raphe nuclei contain many serotonin (5-HT)-containing neurons. In the primate brain, some of the serotonergic neurons are also located laterally from the median reticular formation. Serotonin is synthesized by approximately 80% of neurons in the rostrally located ncl. raphe dorsalis and up to 10-20% of neurons in the caudal medullary raphe nuclei. The projections of the raphe nuclei have serotonergic and non-serotonergic components (GABA, glutamate, other monoamines such as dopamine). In neurons of the dorsal raphe nucleus, colocalizations of serotonin with substance P, the neuropeptide CRF or galanin are found. The serotonergic nuclei are divided into a rostral (caudal linear ncl, raphe dorsalis, raphe medianus, oral pontine ncl, supralemniscal ncl) and a caudal group (raphe magnus, raphe obscurus, raphe pallidus and neurons of the medullary reticular formation). The dorsal raphe nucleus contains the largest number, approximately 170,000 serotonergic neurons.

The connections of the rostral raphe nucleus group are wide ranging and predominantly serotonergic. The dorsal and median raphe nuclei project to the cortex, striatum, amygdala, BNST, lateral septum, hippocampus, entorhinal cortex, thalamus, SN, and various brainstem nuclei. The median raphe nucleus influences the basal ganglia and hippocampus via direct projections as well as indirect projections via the SN, septum, and mammillary nuclei. The caudal raphe nucleus projects to the caudal brainstem and spinal cord. Afferents to the dorsal and median raphe nuclei originate from the medial PFC, central amygdala, medial septum, NDB, ventral pallidum, lateral habenula, hypothalamic regions, from the PAG and other brainstem nuclei, and from the reticular formation (Hornung 2012).

Raphe nuclei and serotonergic neurons are involved in a variety of functions. These include synaptic maturation and migration of neurons in early brain development, modulation of sleep-wake rhythm, central modulation of pain stimuli along with the PAG, control of motor activity and emotional behavior when processing appetitive or aversive information (Hornung 2012; Hayashi et al. 2015; Luo et al. 2016). Pain-relieving effects are produced serotonergically (tonically activated during stress) or non-serotonergically (during non-stress states) depending on the stress state (Mitchell et al. 1998). The serotonergic system is implicated in affective disorders such as depression, in coping with stress, and also in drug addiction; important control of socio-affective behavior occurs through the ventromedial PFC and the serotonergic system, in part via direct circuits between them (Challis and Berton 2015). The axis between lateral habenula and rostral raphe nuclei is also affected in depression; an important factor in the pathophysiology appears to be impaired serotonin-dependent modulation with hyperactivation of the lateral habenula (Metzger et al. 2017). In general, the synaptic effects in the different circuits are complex due to the multitude of different serotonin receptors (5-HT) and partly also occur via the modulation of other transmitters.

A complex chain of excitation and inhibition involving serotonin is also found in stress processing. For example, in the presence of stressors, corticotropin release factors generated in the hypothalamus can inhibit or excite serotonergic neurons in the raphe nucleus, depending on the activated receptor type CRF1 or CRF2, which then excites or inhibits glutamatergic neurons in the medial PFC via 5-HT1A receptors. The mPFC neurons project back to the raphe nucleus and excite or inhibit GABAergic interneurons there. These in turn excite or inhibit serotonergic neurons, which in turn project to the basolateral amygdala and inhibit or excite GABAergic neurons there. Via the amygdala, active or passive behaviors to cope with stress can be initiated in this way (Puglisi-Allegra and Andolina 2015). The dorsal serotonergic raphe nucleus is also instrumental in the suppression or execution of aggressive behavior via similarly complex neuronal interactions (Miczek et al. 2015).

Locus Coeruleus

The locus coeruleus (LC, Latin "blue place") is a highly pigmented nucleus in the dorsal wall of the rostral pons in the lateral floor of the fourth ventricle. It consists predominantly of monoaminergic neurons that synthesize the neurotransmitter/neuromodulator nor-epinephrine. Polymerization of norepinephrine leads to the formation of neuromelanin, which causes the bluish coloration. This nucleus represents the main source of norad-renergic projections to the other parts of the brain. The LC is involved with attentional and perceptual processing, memory performance, and motivation.

Afferents to the LC originate from the dorsolateral and dorsomedial PFC, the ACC, and the amygdala; the latter terminate on LC neurons expressing corticotropin and thyrotropin-secreting hormones. Hypocretin- and orexin-containing neurons of the posterior hypothalamus innervate the LC, as do neurons of the nociception-processing lamina of the spinal cord and processes of vasopressomatostatin-, and neuropeptide sin-. Y-containing neurons. In part, the latter originate from the central amygdala. Serotonin, angiotensin, acetylcholine, and dopamine receptors are located on LC neurons, so it can be assumed that a wide range of subcortical and cortical afferents regulate LC activity, and modulations occur in part via feedback loops (Counts and Mufson 2012). In addition to noradrenaline, LC neurons express a number of neuropeptides such as neuropeptide Y, calcitonin gene-related peptides, cholecystokinin and somatostatin.

Approximately 45,000 neurons in the rostral LC have widely branching axonal

projections to the forebrain (Counts and Mufson 2012). Projections run across two axonal systems. A dorsal tegmental bundle extends to the forebrain and a smaller portion of it to local brainstem structures and the spinal cord. Via a rostral periventricular bundle, ascending projections run to the rostral diencephalon, and descending tracts run to sensory-recipient brainstem structures such as the ncl. solitarius. Telencephalic projections of the LC reach the frontal, dorsal, and lateral cortex. The PFC and parietal cortex are moderately innervated, while somatosensory and motor cortices have a dense network of noradrenergic fibers. In the subcortical telencephalon, there are projections to the amygdala, entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, septum, NDB and Ncl. basalis Meynert. Norepinephrine can be released via synaptic contacts as well as extrasynaptically via volume transmission (Aoki et al. 1998). Receptors for norepinephrine (and simultaneously for epinephrine) form different classes of G protein-coupled receptors (► Chap. 3).

LC neurons exhibit a tonic and a phasic mode of activity that depend on an individual's activity state. Phasic activation is driven by sensory inputs and is important for alertness and efficient processing of salient information. Accordingly, the LC is considered a monitor for important events that require immediate (Berridge attention and Waterhouse 2003; Sara 2009). In this regard, the LC modulates the formation and experience-dependent changes in memory through cortical and subcortical attentional and memory circuits. The LC also plays an important role in stress and emotional memory. An intact emotional memory requires the LC to interact with the amygdala and hippocampus. Normal aging processes include a loss of noradrenergic cells with a rostrocaudal gradient and averages 30-50% in 70-year-olds. The decreased number of LC neurons with forebrain projection may also have an explanation for decreased attention and memory performance in old

age. In Alzheimer's disease, the loss is up to 80% of LC neurons. The reduction of LC neurons is associated with the occurrence of increased cortical plaque formation and neurofibrillary tangles; these phenomena correlate with the onset and progression of AD better than the loss of cholinergic neurons (Förstl et al. 1994; Zarow et al. 2003).

The Reticular Formation

The reticular formation (RF) is an extensive neuronal network along the rostrocaudal axis from the midbrain to the caudal medulla oblongata. It forms the inner core of the brainstem without conspicuous cytoarchitectonic boundaries; clearly delineated nuclei lie embedded within it. A median zone containing the raphe nuclei is distinguished from a medial large-cell and a lateral small-cell zone (Nieuwenhuys et al. 1991, 2008).

In the medial RF, due to the polarity of the cell bodies along a dorsomedialventrolateral axis and their main dendrites. an intermediate reticular zone is delineated by gigantocellular and parvicellular reticular nuclei with neurons of different orientations. The intermediate reticular zone contains catecholaminergic cells that have sympathetic cardiovascular and cardiorespiratory functions and control vasopressin release. Neuropeptide Y- and substance P-containing neurons as well as serotonergic neurons are present in this zone. The intermediate zone has ascending connections to the parabrachial region and descending connections to the ncl. solitarius and motor neurons of the phrenic nerve in the cervical medulla (Paxinos et al. 2012).

The gigantocellular ncl. and paragigantocellular ncl. of the medial RF contain serotonergic neurons that are larger than those in the intermediate reticular zone. They are involved in the inhibition of baroreflexes triggered by noxious stimuli in the nociceptive system. Adrenergic and noradrenergic neurons are also located in this zone. Unlike in rats or monkeys, no giant cells are found in the human gigantocellular nucleus. Descending projections of gigantocellular and paragigantocellular subnuclei to the spinal cord control structures of the autonomic system such as parasympathetic nuclei and neurons involved in the organization of reflexes of the pelvic floor (Hermann et al. 2003).

In the lateral RF is the parvicellular reticular nucleus with different subnuclei whose neurons are differentially immunoreactive for acetylcholine esterase (AChE). One subnucleus of this reticular nucleus has autonomic respiratory functions, as does the caudal medullary reticular nucleus. The parvocellular part with small compact cells and dense AChE reactivity contains dense neurokinin-containing fibers (Coveñas et al. 2003). In the caudal region lies the medullary reticular nucleus with a dorsal and ventral part, respectively. The dorsal medullary reticular nucleus is activated in response to noxious stimuli and is immunoreactive for opioids, neuropeptides, and monaminergic, catecholaminergic, and serotonergic transmitters/modulators. It is an important part of the pain control system and integrates excitatory and inhibitory inputs in nociceptive processing (Lima and Almeida 2002).

Inputs to the RF originate from many regions of the central nervous system. Cortical inputs originate from premotor, supplementary motor, and primary motor areas and innervate the RF ipsi- and contralaterally (Fregosi et al. 2017). Dorsal medial prefrontal areas and parietal areas of the cortex project to the pontine RF, and a projection from the central amygdala runs to the lateral RF (Price and Amaral 1981; Leichnetz et al. 1984). The cerebellum as well as the ascending spinoreticular tract from the spinal cord project to the RF.

The RF gives rise to descending tracts to the spinal cord and ascending tracts to brainstem and midbrain structures, the hypothalamus, the limbic thalamus, and the striatum (Angeles Fernández-Gil et al. 2010). The ascending reticular activating system (ARAS) originates in the RF; major components of the ARAS consist of cholinergic nuclei in the brainstem and basal forebrain, noradrenergic nuclei, especially of the locus coeruleus, histaminergic and hypocretinergic hypothalamic projections, and dopaminergic and serotonergic projections from the brainstem and RF (Hobson and Pace-Schott 2002). The ARAS proceeds in a dorsal pathway via the limbic thalamic nuclei (intralaminar and midline nuclei and reticular thalamic nucleus) and in a ventral pathway via cholinergic nuclei in the basal forebrain. Via the ARAS originating from the thalamus, various projections extend to the ventromedial, dorso- and ventrolateral PFC, the OFC, the premotor cortex, the primary motor and somatosensory cortex, and the posterior parietal cortex. The most important function of the ARAS is the regulation of states of consciousness and wakefulness (Paus 2000; Jang and Kwak 2017); the ARAS also regulates related functions such as mood, motivation, attention, learning, memory, movement, and autonomic functions (Zeman and Coebergh 2013).

2.2 Limbic Cortical Areas

The orbitofrontal, cingulate and insular cortex are limbic structures in the frontal brain. They are named below according to the nomenclature of Ding et al. (2016). This study uses imaging, high-resolution cytoarchitectonic, and chemoarchitectonic data mapped to each other in a human brain. Brodmann's (1909) nomenclature of cortical areas is used as the primary reference and modified when necessary using nomenclature from a number of other studies of the human brain.

The entire prefrontal cortex (PFC) is divided into a frontopolar, dorsolateral prefrontal, ventrolateral prefrontal, orbitofrontal and a posterior frontal cortex. The frontopolar cortex (Brodmann area; BA 10) has a medial, lateral, and orbital area. The dorsolateral PFC has a rostral (BA 9), caudal (BA 8), intermediate (BA 9, 46), and rostroventral portion (BA 46). The ventrolateral PFC consists of a rostral (BA 45) and a caudal (BA 44) portion. The posterior frontal cortex is the motor cortex and contains the primary motor area (BA 4, also called area MI or area FA), the premotor cortex (BA 6 or area FB), which has laterodorsal, latero-

ventral, and medial (area MII) subdivisions.

and a transitional area of premotor to cin-

2.2.1 Orbitofrontal Cortex

gulate cortex BA 6/32.

According to Ding et al. (2016), the human orbitofrontal cortex (OFC) is divided into a medial, intermediate, and lateral area. The medial OFC (BA 14) has a rostral and caudal portion, while the intermediate OFC has a rostral, medial, and lateral portion (BA 11) and a caudal portion (BA 13). The lateral OFC (BA 12, 47) again has a medial and a lateral subdivision. The majority of the OFC connectivity studies presented here were conducted in macaque monkeys, whose OFC is divided into a frontopolar region, BA 10, and a lateral and medial OFC with different proportions of BA 11–14 (for a comparison, see Henssen et al. 2016).

The OFC has strong bidirectional connections within the cortex, especially with the other limbic cortical areas. Within the PFC, orbital, lateral, and medial prefrontal areas are intensely connected (Barbas and Pandva 1989: Carmichael and Price 1996). Limbic cortical areas connected to the OFC include the insular cortex, temporopolar cortex, and the medial-temporal hippocampal formation (Morecraft et al. 1992; Barbas 1993). This is indirectly connected to the OFC via the entorhinal and perirhinal cortex and the posteriorly located parahippocampal areas TF and TH and directly via the hippocampus proper (CA1, subiculum complex) (Cavada et al. 2000). The entorhinal cortex and the parahippocampal region,

The OFC receives direct olfactory input via the primary olfactory cortex, and indirect input via the anterior insula and entorhinal cortex. Gustatory information enters the OFC via the orbitofrontal operculum and insula (Insausti et al. 1987; Morecraft et al. 1992). These areas receive gustatory and visceral information via thalamic relay nuclei (Carmichael and Price 1995b). Somatosensory inputs originate from primary areas BA1 and 2 and secondary S2 cortex as well as from the insula and parts of parietal area BA 7, where somatosensory inputs from the face and hand are processed. Axons enter the OFC from primary auditory areas and especially from secondary areas, the auditory associative areas and the superior-temporal polysensory area STP (Hackett et al. 1999).

Projections of the OFC run to the anterior temporal lobe (ATL), which includes the temporal polar cortex, the rostral part of the perirhinal cortex (BA 35 and 36), area TE to the tip of the superior temporal sulcus including the anterior border of the superior temporal gyrus. Area BA 13 of the OFC projects to the entire ATL with a weaker projection to BA 35 and 36, and the temporal polar cortex receives a stronger projection from BA 11 (Markowitsch et al. 1985; Moran et al. 1987; Mohedano-Moriano et al. 2015). The influence of the OFC on the ATL is direct, whereas the dorsolateral and ventrolateral PFC appear to influence the ATL via indirect pathways (Mohedano-Moriano et al. 2015).

Subcortical afferents of the OFC originate from the nucleus basalis Meynert, which innervates the OFC as well as other cortical regions in a cholinergic manner (Mesulam et al. 1983). Limbic cortices with projections to the Ncl. basalis Meynert such as the insular cortex or parahippocampal cortices are connected to the OFC (Mesulam and Mufson 1984; Öngür et al. 1998). Intermediate dopaminergic innervation of the OFC originates primarily from the VTA; noradrenergic bilateral innervation also reaches it from the locus coeruleus.

The OFC, as well as the entire medial prefrontal region, is strongly connected to the amygdala. The basolateral, cortical, medial groups, and periamygdaloid cortex project to the OFC, and these projections originate primarily from numerous neurons in the basal and accessory basal nuclei (Porrino et al. 1981; Amaral and Price 1984; Barbas and De Olmos 1990). The OFC projects back to the aforementioned nuclei of the amygdala and also to additional nuclei. such as the paralaminar and central nuclei of the amygdala (Cavada et al. 2000). In particular, the posterior OFC exhibits strong efferents to the amygdala (Ghashghaei et al. 2007), which in turn has a back-projection that excites the posterior OFC. The OFC and amygdala both project to the mediodorsal nucleus of the thalamus. The latter nucleus in turn innervates the posterior Mishkin OFC (Aggleton and 1984: McFarland and Haber 2002; Timbie and Barbas 2015). This tripartite network consisting of the OFC, amygdala, and mediodorsal thalamus can provide information about emotionally significant events and influence higher-order cortex areas that integrate emotional cognitive processes for decision-making and flexible behavior.

Dense projections of the OFC reach the caudate ncl. and putamen, especially ventromedial areas, and extend along a considerable longitudinal extent to the head, body, and tail of the caudate ncl. (Selemon and Goldman-Rakic 1985). The OFC projections are topographically ordered in different areas. Axons of BA 13 project to the central ventral striatum, whereas those of BA 13a, 13b, and 14 terminate primarily in the medial ventral striatum, those of BA 12 in the nuclear region of the ncl. accumbens, and those of BA 11 in both of the above structures. In contrast, projections to the shell region of the ncl. accumbens originate predominantly in the anterior cingulate cortex (BA 32, 25; Haber et al. 1995). Projections from the OFC, as well as those from the other prefrontal areas also examined, appear to terminate predominantly in the striosomes. The topographic order of the projections is also maintained in the projections of the striatal areas to the medial and central globus pallidus, whereas the striatal projection to the substantia nigra is not topographically ordered.

Projections of the OFC to the thalamus, mostly reciprocal, reach the ipsilateral midline nuclei and intralaminar nuclei and, as already described, the mediodorsal nucleus of the medial nucleus group; but also parts of the pulvinar. The OFC has connections to autonomic centers in the hypothalamus and to the lateral and medial preoptic areas, as well as to the zona incerta and brainstem, here especially to the periaqueductal gray of the midbrain, the dopaminergic nuclei, and the interpeduncular nucleus (An et al. 1998; Rempel-Clower and Barbas 1998). The frontal cortex, like the amygdala, can exert rapid influence on autonomic systems responsible for the execution and expression of emotions through these connections (Barbas et al. 2003).

The OFC, with this multitude of connections to other limbic centers and to memory-processing and sensory structures, appears to form a special node where relevant past and present experiences, including their affective and social meanings, are collected and monitored. The OFC occupies an important role in the personality of individuals in the integration of complex memory contents and social adaptations. It involves comparing and processing personal experiences and intentions with contextual external stimuli to produce adapted and rational behavior. In general, the OFC is important in selecting appropriate behavior for the current context (Cavada et al. 2000; Wilkenheiser and Schoenbaum 2016).

The OFC integrates current information to make predictions or estimates about future outcomes. According to the group around Schoenbaum (Schoenbaum and Esber 2010: Schoenbaum et al. 2011), an important significance of the function of the OFC is that it is primarily important for outcome-guided and less for valueguided behavior. According to this view, in collaboration with the amygdala and hippocampus (and other brain structures), the OFC forms an extended network for processing past and present associations and forms new complex multidimensional associations specific to the current state. The amygdala updates information about signal-outcome conditions and accesses the associations of the OFC for use in future learning episodes (Sharpe and Schoenbaum 2016). The hippocampus, in turn, is a highly flexible system for rapidly grasping complex (directly experienced or deduced) features of the environment and encoding important information in such a way that higher-level spatial and relational information is retained. The hippocampus and OFC process parallel, but interactive, cognitive maps that capture the complex relationships between signals, actions, outcomes, and other environmental features. While the hippocampus provides abstract associations, information processing in the OFC concerns the direct biological relevance of events and objects (Wilkenheiser and Schoenbaum 2016).

The OFC, insula, and ACC, as well as subcortical regions such as the ncl. accumbens, ventral pallidum, and amygdala, form the brain's reward network. The anterior OFC seems to particularly register the feeling of subjective pleasure in different contexts (Gottfried et al. 2003; Grabenhorst and Rolls 2011; Rolls 2012) and is also active during sexual pleasure, the euphoric effects of drugs or music. An increase in the feeling of pleasure is regulated by opioid or orexin receptors in the hotspots of the OFC (Castro et al. 2014).

Koelsch et al. (2015) distinguish a total of four affective systems, namely a brainstem, a diencephalon, a hippocampus and an OFC-centered affective system. The OFC holds a number of functions. such as the integration of sensory information with stored memory content, decision-making, and preferences, which serve to motivate or inhibit a particular behavior. The OFC ensures that "somatic" markers in the sense of Damasio (1994), i.e. physical accompanying states, are used in this process. It modulates endocrine and vegetative processes in the hypothalamus and brainstem that contribute to the subjective feeling. Furthermore, the OFC flexibly processes rewards and punishments and generates "moral" affects based on representations of social norms and conventions. According to the authors' theory, the functions of the OFC in this context occur rapidly, automatically, and unconsciously. In contrast, the specific role of the OFC in states of consciousness is unclear. EEG findings in risk decisionmaking in humans show that OFC neurons encode a higher reward probability after 400-600 ms in response to cue stimuli, the OFC 1000-2000 ms after the decision is made produces a risk signal in the reward expectancy phase, and an evaluation signal 0-800 ms after the reward (Li et al. 2016). Conscious information processing is also likely to occur in this time window.

Lesion studies in macaque monkeys revealed that the lateral and medial OFC play different roles in choice behavior in uncertain and ambiguous situations, respectively. While the medial OFC tends to focus attention on the relevant decision variables for achieving a goal, the lateral OFC is required for rapid learning in fluctuating environments by associating a particular outcome with a particular decision (Walton et al. 2011). People with damage to the orbitofrontal and ventromedial cortex show weaknesses in decision making toward food, objects, object features, landscapes, or living things. Damage in the OFC appears to impair the accuracy of affective, value-based decision-making, without a large effect in the reaction time of a decision—nor impulsive action (Fellows 2011).

The functions of the OFC proposed by researchers were evaluated by Stalnaker et al. (2015), taking into account competing contradictory ideas and findings. Accordingly, response suppression, flexible associative coding, somatic markers for emotional states as well as value-based signal processing are not adequate explanations of the function of the OFC as a sole process. However, some of these functions such as response suppression, value calculation, error indication, or even their assignment to specific causes may be necessary in the formation of a so-called cognitive map in the current decision situation. A cognitive map contains the essential features of the current information and labels the current task state (Wilson et al. 2014). This shows that functions of the OFC clearly overlap with those of other limbic cortical areas.

2.2.2 Cingulate Cortex

The cingulate cortex is located in the medial wall of the cerebral hemisphere adjacent to the corpus callosum and is divided into anterior, middle, and posterior regions. These are divided into rostral and caudal as well as dorsal and ventral subregions.

In the *anterior* cingulate *cortex* (ACC), ventrodorsal BA 24 and a subcallosal or subgenual part BA 25 (lying below the corpus callosum or its "knee" or "genu") and dorsorostral BA 32 are distinguished. A ventral limbic series occupies the surface of the cingulate gyrus and contains BA 24a and 24b, subcallosal BA 25, and callosal part BA 33. A dorsal paralimbic row lies deep in the cingulate sulcus and corresponds to BA 24c and 32.

The *middle cingulate cortex* (MCC) is divided into an anterior part, again with a dorsal anterior (BA 32' and 24c'), a ventral

anterior (BA 24a' and 24b') and a callosal part (BA 33'). The posterior portion of the MCC includes BA 24c' and 24d located in the cingulate sulcus (Vogt et al. 2006; Vogt 2016). The cingulate motor areas (CMA) include rostral BA 24c, dorsal BA 6c, and ventral BA 23c.

The *posterior cingulate cortex* (PCC) includes BA 23a-c, the dorsally located BA 31. Ventral to these areas and closely associated with them is the retrosplenial cortex (BA 29 and 30; Vogt and Palomero-Gallagher 2012).

Inputs of the Cingulate Cortex

The anterior cingulate areas BA 25 and 24 are reciprocally connected and also receive inputs from the PCC. Both are innervated by the dorsolateral PFC and OFC and receive projections from the amygdala, hippocampus, and superior temporal sulcus. While BA 25 is also innervated by the superior temporal gyrus, BA 24 receives inputs from the temporal pole, parahippocampal areas, and the insula. Posterior BA 23 is connected to BA 24, is innervated by the dorsolateral PFC and OFC like the latter, but also receives inputs from the parietal and occipital cortex. The temporal inputs also originate from the superior temporal sulcus and parahippocampal areas (Vogt and Pandya 1987).

Outputs of the Cingulate Cortex

The most rostrally located BA 32 projects to the lateral PFC, the middle OFC, and the rostral part of the superior temporal gyrus. The anteriorly located area BA 24 innervates premotor cortical regions, the OFC, the rostral inferior parietal lobe, the anterior insula, the perirhinal cortex and the basolateral amygdala. The posteriorly located area BA 23 sends efferents to the dorsal PFC, rostral orbital cortex, parieto-temporal cortex (posterior inferior parietal lobe and superior temporal sulcus), and parahippocampal areas (Pandya et al. 1981). Medial and rostral areas 25 and 32 of the ACC send strong projections to all areas of the hypothalamus (Öngür et al. 1998).

BA 24c (also referred to as M3 in monkeys), located rostrally in the ACC, and BA23c (M4), located ventrally in the PCC, are characterized by strongly different patterns of connections from thalamic and intracortical inputs (Hatanaka et al. 2003). The efferents of both areas are equally somatotopically ordered to the primary and supplementary motor cortex (M1 and M2 in the macaque brain). Neurons located anteriorly in BA 24c and in BA 23c project to the face area in M1 and M2, neurons located in the middle part send their axons to the anterior limb area, and posteriorly located neurons to the posterior limb area (Morecraft and Van Hoesen 1993). Consequently, frontal associative and limbic areas have direct access to the part of the corticospinal projection arising from the middle cingulate (motor) cortex via the cingulate cortex. Rostral regions of BA 23c and 24c project not only to the face area in M1 and M2, but also parallel to the facial nucleus in the pons. BA 23c and 24c each contain their own face representations and directly influence facial expressions via efferents to cortical and subcortical centers (Morecraft et al. 1996). The efferents of the cingulate motor cortex partly extend into the cervical medulla (Dum and Strick 1996), and at the same time these areas receive information from the spinothalamic tract via thalamic relay nuclei (Dum et al. 2009), so that these areas are involved not only in sensorimotor functions but also in pain processing.

The basolateral group and cortical nucleus of the amygdala project to BA 24c (M3). The medial temporal lobe influences facial expressions and, to a lesser extent, arm movements through this amygdalar pathway to the cingulate cortex (Morecraft et al. 2007). The primary motor cortex, ventral lateral premotor cortex, and supplementary motor area control *voluntary* facial expressions, while the cingulate cortical areas regulate *involuntary* emotional facial

expressions due to their connection with limbic brain structures (Müri 2016).

Kunishio and Haber (1994) examined the projections of the cingulate cortex to the basal ganglia. Overall, medial regions of the cingulate cortex (BA 24c, 24c', 23c) project to the ventral striatum and to the shell region of the ncl. accumbens, whereas the lateral regions and the fundus of these areas project to the dorsal sensorimotor striatum. Thus, the fundus of the cingulate sulcus is involved in skeleto-motor functions through its connection to the dorsal striatum, whereas the medial region of the cingulate sulcus is involved with limbic and associative cortical functions.

Overall, the cingulate cortex has very extensive connections with limbic, parietotemporal, and frontal associative areas (Morecraft et al. 2004). However, the ACC is also strongly connected to auditory associative areas and has a distinct connection to the amygdala as well as to a number of autonomic motor systems (Barbas et al. 1999; Öngür et al. 1998; Ghashghaei et al. 2007; García-Cabezas and Barbas 2017). ACC and posterior OFC are also strongly associated (Barbas and Pandya 1989; Cavada et al. 2000). A comparison of the strength of inputs and outputs reveals that the ACC has stronger projections to the amygdala than it receives from it; this is reversed for the posterior OFC (Ghashghaei et al. 2007). Due to its connections, the ACC shows strong involvement in the regulation of emotions and autonomic responses, whereas the functions of the MCC are in decision-making and skeleto-motor control (Vogt 2016). The ACC is active in attentional control and task-switching, and is particularly active when cognitive demands are high (Bush et al. 2000; Botvinick 2007). The ACC and area BA 10 are activated during mental tracking tasks (Burgess et al. 2007), so the network may be involved in maintaining concentration and, via it, supporting working memory and problem-solving.

The above findings are based primarily on studies in macaques. In humans, fMRI connectivity studies assume rostral and caudal as well as dorsal and ventral subregions of the ACC; these studies suggest functionally distinct networks (Margulies et al. 2007). The anterior MCC is active during the planning and execution of motor functions and also evaluates the outcome of an action via feedback detection (Picard and Strick 2001; Amiez and Petrides 2014; Procyk et al. 2016). Affective pain perception also occurs in the aMCC (Büchel et al. 2002; Rainville 2002). Increased activation of the aMCC and supplementary motor areas is also found when motor control and pain processing occur simultaneously (Misra and Coombes 2015). The cingulate cortex is also seen as an interface for the translation of intention and motivation into action: This explains the diversity of functions of the cingulate cortex (Paus 2001).

2.2.3 Insular Cortex

The insular cortex (also called insula) is located in the lateral wall of the cerebral hemisphere. It is deeply recessed between the frontal, parietal and temporal cortex and is externally overlaid by the operculum (• Fig. 2.4). It is divided into dysgranular (Idg) and granular (Ig) insular cortex, each with rostral and caudal parts, and agranular insular cortex (Iag), which is divided into frontal (FI) and temporal (TI) parts. In primates, from ventral to dorsal, the insular cortex consists of a rostroventral agranular, a caudodorsal granular, and a broader intermediate dysgranular zone. Granular and agranular refers to the presence or absence of an internal granular layer IV characterized by the presence of small cells called granule cells. The intermediate dysgranular zone has fewer granular neurons and incomplete laminar differentiation (Mesulam and Mufson 1985; Friedman et al. 1986). In a subregion of the agranular insula (FI) and dorsal to the anterior dysgranular zone are the often-cited, spindle-shaped large "von



C Fig. 2.4 a Semi-schematic representation of the location of the insula in one hemisphere of the human brain (modified after Ding et al. 2016). The insular cortex (Ins) is covered by the parietal and temporal operculum. Amygdala; GP globus pallidus; hyp hypothalamus; putamen; thal thalamus. Gray lines in the surrounding cortex separate functionally distinct cortical areas. **b** Lateral view of the human brain. The dashed line indicates the location of the cross-section in **a**. Rostral is left and caudal is right. **c** Schematic representation of the opercula (modified after Nieuwenhuys 2012). According to Craig's (2010) model,

Economo" cells (named after their discoverer von Economo), which are thought to be an important part of circuits for cognitive, complex social functions, and consciousness. However, these cells, e.g. also described in the ACC and dorsolateral PFC, have been found not only in primates with larger brains, but also in brains of other larger and smaller mammals with very different cognitive abilities, so that the actual function remains unclear.

The insular cortex receives inputs from the rostral, orbital and dorsolateral PFC, from regions in the parietal and temporal lobes, from the ACC, the olfactory system, the entorhinal cortex and the basal ganglia. Limbic structures such as the entorhinal cortex (BA 28), perirhinal areas (BA 35, 36),

information processing within the insula progresses from posterior to anterior. Visceral states from the body are primarily processed in the posterior insula. Limbic, sensory, and cognitive influences are integrated in the interoceptive processing pathway to the anterior insula. The anterior insula encodes a "global emotional awareness" and works closely with the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). The insular cortex generates emotions and (physical) awareness and the ACC motivation and self-efficacy. Together they form the core network for adaptive homeostatic control of the body and brain

posterior orbitofrontal areas (BA 13, 14), temporopolar (BA 38) and cingulate (BA 23, 24) cortex, and the amygdaloid complex are strongly and reciprocally connected to the anterobasal region of the insula (Mesulam and Mufson 1982a, b; Mufson and Mesulam 1982; Augustine 1996). This limbic part also receives inputs from the superiorly located insular somatic associative cortex. Therefore, the limbic insula is considered a somatolimbic integration site where events in the extrapersonal environment are linked to motivational states. The efferents of the insular cortex to the amygdala as well as those to the limbic areas of the perihippocampal cortex are more pronounced than vice versa. Overall, a wide range of cortical and subcortical limbic con-

Efferents of the insular cortex run to the premotor cortex and the ventral and dorsal striatum. The agranular and ventral dysgranular zones project to the shell of the ncl. accumbens and to the medial ventral striatum, while the more dorsal and posterior parts of the agranular and dysgranular insula innervate the central ventral striatum. The dorsal dysgranular and granular insula project predominantly to the dorsolateral striatum (Chikama et al. 1997). Generally speaking, somatosensory information from the dorsal granular and dysgranular zone reaches the dorsolateral striatum, and limbic information about reward and memory content reaches the ventral striatum for feeding behavior. The agranular and rostral dysgranular parts of the anterior insula integrate sensory and amygdalar inputs and project to the caudal ventral striatum, which also receives projections from the amygdala. The posteromedial, lateral, and posterolateral portions of the agranular insula, which processes olfactory, gustatory, and visceral information, show particularly dense innervation of this striatal region (Fudge et al. 2005). After lesions of the insula, for example, conditioned feeding aversions are no longer maintained. Responses of the insula to visceral negative and positive stimuli can thus influence behavior organized by the caudal ventral striatum.

Sensory Processing

Inputs entering the insula transmit gustatory, visceral, nociceptive, thermoreceptive, vestibular, somatosensory, and olfactory information/sensory stimuli. A *primary gustatory cortex (GI)* in the granular anterosuperior part of the insula is distinguished from a *secondary gustatory cortex* underlying the GI in the dysgranular part of the insula. Posterior to the GI is the *insular viscerosensory cortex*, which processes general visceral information. Pain and temperature pathways terminate in the postero-superior insula, the insular nociceptive and thermoreceptive cortex (Brooks et al. 2005; Craig and Zhang 2006). Caudal to the latter, the postero-superior part contains the parietoinsular vestibular cortex, which receives information from the vestibular system. In the postero-superior insula, afferents from somatosensory, vestibular, and auditory cortices terminate in the insular somatic associative cortex (Nieuwenhuys 2012). The primary olfactory cortex, gustatory and viscerosensory insula project to the agranular anterior zone, which processes food-related information (Carmichael and Price 1996).

The visceral area of the insula processes taste information, regulates eating behavior, and has visceral motor autonomic functions (Augustine 1996). The somatosensory area of the insula plays a role in tactile perception, the pain-asymbolia syndrome that develops after stroke or trauma, i.e. the absence of normal pain-related motor and emotional responses and a sense of suffering despite pain recognition, and the thalamic pain syndrome, in which burning pain or cold pain occurs due to the disruption of thalamic connections.

In humans, four qualitatively and topographically different functional regions were described after electrical stimulation of the insula. A somatosensory representation was found in the posterior part, a representation of temperature and pain in a posterior superior part, and one for viscerosensory sensations anterior to the somatosensory representation. In a centrally located part of the insula, taste representations were localized, whereas no sensations were elicited upon stimulation of the anterior insula (Ostrowsky et al. 2002; Stephani et al. 2011).

Emotional and Cognitive Processing in the Insula

The anterior insula and especially its anterior basal region are involved in the processing of emotions and empathy (Kurth et al. 2010; Nieuwenhuys 2012). This involves the recognition of the emotional meaning of stimuli such as the (re)recognition of emotion in facial expressions and the subsequent generation of an affective state based on this (Phillips et al. 2003). These processes are regulated by a ventral system consisting of the amygdala, insula, ventral striatum, ventral ACC, and PFC. A dorsal system consisting of the hippocampus, dorsal ACC, and PFC regulates and modulates the affective state through cognitive aspects.

The empathic feeling for the pain of others is primarily accompanied by an activation of the anterior insula. Pain experiences are segregated in sensory-discriminative and vegetative-affective attributes (Singer et al. 2004). The activation of a core network consisting of the anterior insula and ACC reflects the emotional component that gives rise to our responses to pain and provides the neural basis for recognizing the feelings of others and our own feelings (Lamm et al. 2011). In this context, the insula is also activated in the prediction of emotional states. it enables error learning in emotional states and emotional uncertainty, and it modulates individual preferences in risk avoidance and contextual appraisals (Singer et al. 2009; Lamm and Singer 2010; Bernhardt and Singer 2012).

Decety and Michalska (2010) used imaging techniques to study children and adults while they observed a subject either experiencing an involuntary, self-inflicted, painful minor accident in everyday life (sympathy situation), behaving in a non-painful everyday situation, or experiencing pain intentionally induced by another (empathy situation). In all subjects, the perception of pain in the sympathy situation produced similar activations in the ACC, somatosensory cortex, periaqueductal gray, and insula, whereas the empathy situation activated different PFC regions. In the empathy situation, a stronger negative arousal was found in children than in young adults. This suggests a developmental aspect.

The insular cortex is also involved in reward processing. Thus, when listening to music, there is an activation of the mesolimbic system (Ncl. accumbens, VTA), the OFC, the hypothalamus and the insula. Vegetative and physiological adaptations in pleasant, rewarding and emotional situations are regulated by the latter two structures (Menon and Levitin 2005).

The Functional Network of the Insula

The insula is considered a major integrative cortex where multimodal information from somatosensory-limbic, insular-limbic, insular-orbital-temporal networks and from the axis between the PFC, basal ganglia, and basal forebrain converge (Shelley and Trimble 2004). Within the insula, homeostatic states appear to be connected to information from the sensory environment and to motivational, hedonic, and social information from different brain regions in a stepwise manner from posterior to anterior (Craig 2010).

The anterior insula is also a functionally complex area in humans, in which dorsal regions are involved with auditory-motor integration, while the ventral region is connected to the amygdala for the regulation of physiological parameters of emotional states (Mutschler et al. 2009). Cauda et al. (2011) used imaging techniques to investigate the connectivity of the insula in humans at rest and describe two complementary networks. In the first network, the ventral anterior insula has preferential connectivity to the middle and inferior temporal cortex and the ACC. This network controls arousal and attentional states that play a role in processing emotional stimuli and situations. In the second network, the middle posterior insula is connected to premotor, sensorimotor, supplementary motor cortices and the posterior cingulate cortex, has a more pronounced right-sided connection with the superior temporal and occipital cortex, and is functionally involved with sensorimotor integration.

Summary

In the endbrain, the limbic system comprises on the one hand the orbitofrontal cortex (OFC), the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) and the insular cortex (insula), and on the other hand subcortical parts such as the septal region, the amygdaloid complex, the hippocampal formation, the habenula, parts of the basal ganglia and the mesolimbic system. The diencephalon contains limbic thalamic nuclei and the hypothalamus, and the midbrain contains the periaqueductal gray (PAG) with important limbic functions. The limbic brainstem contains transmitter-specific nuclei such as the dopaminergic ventral tegmental area (VTA), the serotonergic raphe nuclei, and the noradrenergic locus coeruleus. Other important limbic regions of the brainstem include the parabrachial nucleus, the nucleus solitarius, the reticular formation, and other smaller nuclei.

Functions of the limbic system involve emotional perception, evaluation, and behavioral control, which influence the cognitive and executive performances of the brain. Error detection and control, recognition of the emotional components of gestures, facial expressions, posture and language, learning and memory formation, as well as problem solving, action planning and attentional control, are substantially regulated by a limbic extensive network in the telencephalon. This consists of the OFC, ACC, medial septum, hippocampus, basal forebrain, amygdala, lateral habenula, ventral pallidum, and ncl. accumbens, and is closely intertwined with subcortical structures in the hypothalamus, transmitter-specific nuclei, and the reticular formation.

Emotional conditioning of behavior and motivational behavior control are also controlled by a functional unit consisting of the limbic cortical areas and especially the amygdala, ventral pallidum, and basal forebrain. These are interconnected in part by limbic thalamic nuclei and modulated by dopaminergic and serotonergic brainstem nuclei. Affective states controlled by the limbic system include flight and avoidance behavior, defense, and attack, which are regulated by the amygdala, lateral septum, hypothalamus, PAG, and several nuclei in the brainstem, including transmitter-specific ones.

Control of feeding, reproduction, or sexual and caring behavior is by the lateral septum and ventral pallidum, hypothalamus, and PAG, whereas stress regulation and pain processing are controlled by the insula, ACC, hippocampus, limbic thalamus, and PAG; again, modulation by transmitterspecific and other brainstem nuclei.

The basic vegetative functions of the body, which include respiration, circulation, metabolism, digestion, hormonal balance, states of consciousness and arousal, and sleep-wake, are regulated by the hypothalamus and limbic brainstem nuclei and monitored and modulated by a telencephalic network of insula, ACC, and amygdala in cooperation with the limbic thalamus.

The limbic system exerts a direct influence (MCC) to a lesser extent and an indirect influence on the motor-executive and sensorycognitive systems to a greater extent. According to current knowledge, these three systems are considered to be strongly interconnected. Intersections are e.g. the hippocampus, the (also cortical) far-reaching connections of the amygdala as well as the linkage of limbic cortical areas with PFC areas and thalamic regions, which establish direct and indirect connections to the sensory-cognitive system. Thus, the interaction of the three systems seems to be more dynamic than previously assumed. This is also increasingly reflected in the concepts and models of limbic networks.

The limbic system is the place of origin of affects and emotions and is considered the seat of the psyche. Mental illnesses may lie in disturbed functions of a particular limbic structure or in a disturbance of the balance between limbic centers. In many mental illnesses, alterations often also affect the transmitter/neuromodulator systems and the action of transmitters in their target areas.

References

- Adolphs R, Spezio M (2006) Role of the amygdala in processing visual social stimuli. Prog Brain Res 156:363–378
- Aggleton JP (2012) Multiple anatomical systems embedded within the primate medial temporal lobe: implications for hippocampal function. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 36:1579–1596
- Aggleton JP, Mishkin M (1984) Projections of the amygdala to the thalamus in the cynomolgus monkey. J Comp Neurol 222:56–68
- Aggleton JP, Burton MJ, Passingham RE (1980) Cortical and subcortical afferents to the amygdala of the rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). Brain Res 190:347–368
- Aggleton JP, Wright NF, Vann SD, Saunders RC (2012) Medial temporal lobe projections to the retrosplenial cortex of the macaque monkey. Hippocampus 22:1883–1900
- Alexander GE, Crutcher MD (1990) Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. Trends Neurosci 13:266–271
- Alheid GF, Heimer L (1988) New perspectives in basal forebrain organization of special relevance for neuropsychiatric disorders: the striatopallidal, amygdaloid, and corticopetal components of substantia innominata. Neuroscience 27:1–39
- Alvarez-Bolado G (2019) Development of neuroendocrine neurons in the mammalian hypothalamus. Cell Tissue Res 375:23–39
- Amaral DG, Insausti R (1992) Retrograde transport of D-[3H]-aspartate injected into the monkey amygdaloid complex. Exp Brain Res 88:375–388
- Amaral D, Lavenex P (2006) Hippocampal neuroanatomy. In: Andersen P, Morris R, Amaral D, Bliss T, O'Keefe J (eds) The hippocampus book. Oxford University Press, New York, pp 37–114
- Amaral DG, Price JL (1984) Amygdalo-cortical projections in the monkey (Macaca fascicularis). J Comp Neurol 230:465–496
- Amaral DG, Veazey RB, Cowan WM (1982) Some observations on hypothalamo-amygdaloid connections in the monkey. Brain Res 252:13–27
- Amiez C, Petrides M (2014) Neuroimaging evidence of the anatomo-functional organization of the human cingulate motor areas. Cereb Cortex 24:563–578
- An X, Bandler R, Öngür D, Price JL (1998) Prefrontal cortical projections to longitudinal columns in the midbrain periaqueductal gray in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 401:455–479
- Andermann ML, Lowell BB (2017) Toward a wiring diagram understanding of appetite control. Neuron 95:757–778

- Angeles Fernández-Gil M, Palacios-Bote R, Leo-Barahona M, Mora-Encinas JP (2010) Anatomy of the brainstem: a gaze into the stem of life. Semin Ultrasound CT MR 31:196–219
- Aoki C, Venkatesan C, Go CG, Forman R, Kurose H (1998) Cellular and subcellular sites for noradrenergic action in the monkey dorsolateral prefrontal cortex as revealed by the immunocytochemical localization of noradrenergic receptors and axons. Cereb Cortex 8:269–277
- Augustine JR (1996) Circuitry and functional aspects of the insular lobe in primates including humans. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 22:229–244
- Ballinger EC, Ananth M, Talmage DA, Role LW (2016) Basal forebrain cholinergic circuits and signaling in cognition and cognitive decline. Neuron 91:1199–1218
- Bandler R, Shipley MT (1994) Columnar organization in the midbrain periaqueductal gray: modules for emotional expression? Trends Neurosci 17:379–389
- Barbas H (1993) Organization of cortical afferent input to orbitofrontal areas in the rhesus monkey. Neuroscience 56:841–864
- Barbas H, De Olmos J (1990) Projections from the amygdala to basoventral and mediodorsal prefrontal regions in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 300:549–571
- Barbas H, Pandya DN (1989) Architecture and intrinsic connections of the prefrontal cortex in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 286:353–375
- Barbas H, Ghashghaei H, Dombrowski SM, Rempel-Clower NL (1999) Medial prefrontal cortices are unified by common connections with superior temporal cortices and distinguished by input from memory-related areas in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 410:343–367
- Barbas H, Saha S, Rempel-Clower N, Ghashghaei T (2003) Serial pathways from primate prefrontal cortex to autonomic areas may influence emotional expression. BMC Neurosci 10(4):25
- Barbosa DAN, de Oliveira-Souza R, Monte Santo F, de Oliveira Faria AC, Gorgulho AA, De Salles AAF (2017) The hypothalamus at the crossroads of psychopathology and neurosurgery. Neurosurg Focus 43:E15
- Basar K, Sesia T, Groenewegen H, Steinbusch HW, Visser-Vandewalle V, Temel Y (2010) Nucleus accumbens and impulsivity. Prog Neurobiol 92:533–557
- Bear MH, Bollu PC (2018) Neuroanatomy, hypothalamus. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island, FL
- Berger B, Gaspar P, Verney C (1991) Dopaminergic innervation of the cerebral cortex: unexpected differences between rodents and primates. Trends Neurosci 14:21–27

Bernhardt BC, Singer T (2012) The neural basis of empathy. Annu Rev Neurosci 35:1–23

- Berridge CW, Waterhouse BD (2003) The locus coeruleus-noradrenergic system: modulation of behavioral state and state-dependent cognitive processes. Brain Res Rev 42:33–84
- Berridge KC, Kringelbach ML (2013) Neuroscience of affect: brain mechanisms of pleasure and displeasure. Curr Opin Neurobiol 23:294–303
- Berridge KC, Kringelbach ML (2015) Pleasure systems in the brain. Neuron 86:646–664
- Botvinick MM (2007) Conflict monitoring and decision making: reconciling two perspectives on anterior cingulate function. Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci 7:356–366
- Brauer K, Häusser M, Härtig W, Arendt T (2000) The core-shell dichotomy of nucleus accumbens in the rhesus monkey as revealed by doubleimmunofluorescence and morphology of cholinergic interneurons. Brain Res 858:151–162
- Brodmann K (1909) Vergleichende Lokalisationslehre der Grosshirnrinde in ihren Prinzipien dargestellt auf Grund des Zellenbaues. Johann Ambrosius Barth, Leipzig
- Bromberg-Martin ES, Matsumoto M, Hikosaka O (2010) Dopamine in motivational control: rewarding, aversive, and alerting. Neuron 68:815–834
- Brooks JC, Zambreanu L, Godinez A, Craig AD, Tracey I (2005) Somatotopic organisation of the human insula to painful heat studied with high resolution functional imaging. NeuroImage 27:201–209
- Büchel C, Bornhovd K, Quante M, Glauche V, Bromm B, Weiller C (2002) Dissociable neural responses related to pain intensity, stimulus intensity, and stimulus awareness within the anterior cingulate cortex: a parametric single-trial laser functional magnetic resonance imaging study. J Neurosci 22:970–976
- Buot A, Yelnik J (2012) Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia: limbic aspects. Rev Neurol (Paris) 168:569–575
- Burgess PW, Gilbert SJ, Dumontheil I (2007) Function and localization within rostral prefrontal cortex (area 10). Philos Trans R Soc Lond Ser B Biol Sci 362:887–899
- Bush G, Luu P, Posner MI (2000) Cognitive and emotional influences in anterior cingulate cortex. Trends Cogn Sci 4:215–222
- Carmichael ST, Price JL (1995a) Limbic connections of the orbital and medial prefrontal cortex in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 363:615–641
- Carmichael ST, Price JL (1995b) Sensory and premotor connections of the orbital and medial prefrontal cortex of macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 363:642–664
- Carmichael ST, Price JL (1996) Connectional networks within the orbital and medial prefrontal

cortex of macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 371:179-207

- Carrive P, Morgan MM (2012) Periaqueductal gray. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 367–400
- Carus-Cadavieco M, Gorbati M, Ye L, Bender F, van der Veldt S, Kosse C, Börgers C, Lee SY, Ramakrishnan C, Hu Y, Denisova N, Ramm F, Volitaki E, Burdakov D, Deisseroth K, Ponomarenko A, Korotkova T (2017) Gamma oscillations organize top-down signalling to hypothalamus and enable food seeking. Nature 542:232–236
- Cassel JC, Pereira de Vasconcelos A, Loureiro M, Cholvin T, Dalrymple-Alford JC, Vertes RP (2013) The reuniens and rhomboid nuclei: neuroanatomy, electrophysiological characteristics and behavioral implications. Prog Neurobiol 111:34–52
- Castro DC, Chesterman NS, Wu MKH, Berridge KC (2014) Two cortical hedonic hotspots: orbitofrontal and insular sites of sucrose 'liking' enhancement. In: Society for neuroscience conference, Washington, DC
- Cauda F, D'Agata F, Sacco K, Duca S, Geminiani G, Vercelli A (2011) Functional connectivity of the insula in the resting brain. NeuroImage 55:8–23
- Cavada C, Compañy T, Tejedor J, Cruz-Rizzolo RJ, Reinoso-Suárez F (2000) The anatomical connections of the macaque monkey orbitofrontal cortex. A review. Cereb Cortex 10:220–242
- Challis C, Berton O (2015) Top-down control of serotonin systems by the prefrontal cortex: a path toward restored socioemotional function in depression. ACS Chem Neurosci 6:1040–1054
- Chikama M, McFarland NR, Amaral DG, Haber SN (1997) Insular cortical projections to functional regions of the striatum correlate with cortical cytoarchitectonic organization in the primate. J Neurosci 17:9686–9705
- Cho YT, Ernst M, Fudge JL (2013) Cortico-amygdalastriatal circuits are organized as hierarchical subsystems through the primate amygdala. J Neurosci 33:14017–14030
- Colavito V, Tesoriero C, Wirtu AT, Grassi-Zucconi G, Bentivoglio M (2015) Limbic thalamus and statedependent behavior: the paraventricular nucleus of the thalamic midline as a node in circadian timing and sleep/wake-regulatory networks. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 54:3–17
- Correia SS, Goosens KA (2016) Input-specific contributions to valence processing in the amygdala. Learn Mem 23:534–543
- Coulombe MA, Erpelding N, Kucyi A, Davis KD (2016) Intrinsic functional connectivity of periaqueductal gray subregions in humans. Hum Brain Mapp 37:1514–1530

- Counts SE, Mufson EJ (2012) Locus coeruleus. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 425–438
- Coveñas R, Martin F, Belda M, Smith V, Salinas P, Rivada E, Diaz-Cabiale Z, Narvaez JA, Marcos P, Tramu G, Gonzalez-Baron S (2003) Mapping of neurokinin-like immunoreactivity in the human brainstem. BMC Neurosci 4:3
- Craig AD (2010) The sentient self. Brain Struct Funct 214:563–577
- Craig AD, Zhang ET (2006) Retrograde analyses of spinothalamic projections in the macaque monkey: input to posterolateral thalamus. J Comp Neurol 499:953–964
- Da Cunha C, Gomez-A A, Blaha CD (2012) The role of the basal ganglia in motivated behavior. Rev Neurosci 23:747–767
- Dahlström A, Fuxe K (1964) Evidence for the existence of monoamine-containing neurons in the central nervous system. I. Demonstration of monoamines in the cell bodies of brain stem neurons. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 62:1–55
- Damasio AR (1994) Descartes' Irrtum. Fühlen, Denken und das menschliche Gehirn. Paul List Verlag, München
- Decety J, Michalska KJ (2010) Neurodevelopmental changes in the circuits underlying empathy and sympathy from childhood to adulthood. Dev Sci 13:886–899
- Ding SL (2013) Comparative anatomy of the prosubiculum, subiculum, presubiculum, postsubiculum, and parasubiculum in human, monkey, and rodent. J Comp Neurol 521:4145–4162
- Ding SL, Haber SN, Van Hoesen GW (2010) Stratum radiatum of CA2 is an additional target of the perforant path in humans and monkeys. Neuroreport 21:245–249
- Ding SL, Royall JJ, Sunkin SM, Ng L, Facer BA, Lesnar P, Guillozet-Bongaarts A, McMurray B, Szafer A, Dolbeare TA, Stevens A, Tirrell L, Benner T, Caldejon S, Dalley RA, Dee N, Lau C, Nyhus J, Reding M, Riley ZL, Sandman D, Shen E, van der Kouwe A, Varjabedian A, Wright M, Zöllei L, Dang C, Knowles JA, Koch C, Phillips JW, Sestan N, Wohnoutka P, Zielke HR, Hohmann JG, Jones AR, Bernard A, Hawrylycz MJ, Hof PR, Fischl B, Lein ES (2016) Comprehensive cellularresolution atlas of the adult human brain. J Comp Neurol 524:3127–3481
- Double KL, Dedov VN, Fedorow H, Kettle E, Halliday GM, Garner B, Brunk UT (2008) The comparative biology of neuromelanin and lipofuscin in the human brain. Cell Mol Life Sci 65:1669–1682
- Dum RP, Strick PL (1996) Spinal cord terminations of the medial wall motor areas in macaque monkeys. J Neurosci 16:6513–6525

- Dum RP, Levinthal DJ, Strick PL (2009) The spinothalamic system targets motor and sensory areas in the cerebral cortex of monkeys. J Neurosci 29:14223–14235
- Eblen F, Graybiel AM (1995) Highly restricted origin of prefrontal cortical inputs to striosomes in the macaque monkey. J Neurosci 15:5999–6013
- Fellows LK (2011) Orbitofrontal contributions to value-based decision making: evidence from humans with frontal lobe damage. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1239:51–58
- Ferrario CR, Labouèbe G, Liu S, Nieh EH, Routh VH, Xu S, O'Connor EC (2016) Homeostasis meets motivation in the battle to control food intake. J Neurosci 36:11469–11481
- Förstl H, Levy R, Burns A, Luthert P, Cairns N (1994)
 Disproportionate loss of noradrenergic and cholinergic neurons as cause of depression in Alzheimer's disease—a hypothesis.
 Pharmacopsychiatry 27:11–15
- Freese JL, Amaral DG (2005) The organization of projections from the amygdala to visual cortical areas TE and V1 in the macaque monkey. J Comp Neurol 486:295–317
- Freese JL, Amaral DG (2009) Neuroanatomy of the primate amygdala. In: Whalen PJ, Phelps EA (eds) The human amygdala. The Guilford Press, New York, pp 3–42
- Fregosi M, Contestabile A, Hamadjida A, Rouiller EM (2017) Corticobulbar projections from distinct motor cortical areas to the reticular formation in macaque monkeys. Eur J Neurosci 45:1379–1395
- Friedman DP, Murray EA, O'Neill JB, Mishkin M (1986) Cortical connections of the somatosensory fields of the lateral sulcus of macaques: evidence for a corticolimbic pathway for touch. J Comp Neurol 252:323–347
- Friedman DP, Aggleton JP, Saunders RC (2002) Comparison of hippocampal, amygdala, and perirhinal projections to the nucleus accumbens: combined anterograde and retrograde tracing study in the Macaque brain. J Comp Neurol 450:345–365
- Frotscher M, Léránth C (1985) Cholinergic innervation of the rat hippocampus as revealed by choline acetyltransferase immunocytochemistry: a combined light and electron microscopic study. J Comp Neurol 239:237–246
- Fudge JL, Breitbart MA, Danish M, Pannoni V (2005) Insular and gustatory inputs to the caudal ventral striatum in primates. J Comp Neurol 490:101–118
- Fuller PM, Gooley JJ, Saper CB (2006) Neurobiology of the sleep-wake cycle: sleep architecture, circadian regulation, and regulatory feedback. J Biol Rhythm 21:482–493

- García-Cabezas MÁ, Barbas H (2017) Anterior cingulate pathways may affect emotions through orbitofrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex 27:4891–4910
- Ghashghaei HT, Barbas H (2002) Pathways for emotion: interactions of prefrontal and anterior temporal pathways in the amygdala of the rhesus monkey. Neuroscience 115:1261–1279
- Ghashghaei HT, Hilgetag CC, Barbas H (2007) Sequence of information processing for emotions based on the anatomic dialogue between prefrontal cortex and amygdala. NeuroImage 34:905–923
- Ghaziri J, Tucholka A, Girard G, Houde JC, Boucher O, Gilbert G, Descoteaux M, Lippé S, Rainville P, Nguyen DK (2017) The corticocortical structural connectivity of the human insula. Cereb Cortex 27:1216–1228
- Gottfried JA, O'Doherty J, Dolan RJ (2003) Encoding predictive reward value in human amygdala and orbitofrontal cortex. Science 301:1104–1107
- Grabenhorst F, Rolls ET (2011) Value, pleasure and choice in the ventral prefrontal cortex. Trends Cog Sci 15:56–67
- Graybiel AM, Ragsdale CW Jr (1978) Histochemically distinct compartments in the striatum of human, monkeys, and cat demonstrated by acetylthiocholinesterase staining. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 75:5723–5726
- Groenewegen HJ, Witter MP (2004) Thalamus. In: Paxinos G (ed) The rat nervous system. Academic, San Diego, pp 408–441
- Guillery RW, Harting JK (2003) Structure and connections of the thalamic reticular nucleus: advancing views over half a century. J Comp Neurol 463:360–371
- Haber SN, Knutson B (2010) The reward circuit: linking primate anatomy and human imaging. Neuropsychopharmacology 35:4–26
- Haber SN, Kunishio K, Mizobuchi M, Lynd-Balta E (1995) The orbital and medial prefrontal circuit through the primate basal ganglia. J Neurosci 15:4851–4867
- Haber SN, Fudge JL, McFarland NR (2000) Striatonigrostriatal pathways in primates form an ascending spiral from the shell to the dorsolateral striatum. J Neurosci 20:2369–2382
- Haber SN, Adler A, Bergman H (2012) The basal ganglia. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 678–738
- Hackett TA, Stepniewska I, Kaas JH (1999) Prefrontal connections of the parabelt auditory cortex in macaque monkeys. Brain Res 817:45–58
- Hajszan T, Alreja M, Leranth C (2004) Intrinsic vesicular glutamate transporter 2-immunoreactive input to septohippocampal parvalbumincontaining neurons: novel glutamatergic local circuit cells. Hippocampus 14:499–509
- Halliday G, Reyes S, Double K (2012) Substantia nigra, ventral tegmental area, and retrorubral

fields. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 439-454

- Hatanaka N, Tokuno H, Hamada I, Inase M, Ito Y, Imanishi M, Hasegawa N, Akazawa T, Nambu A, Takada M (2003) Thalamocortical and intracortical connections of monkey cingulate motor areas. J Comp Neurol 462:121–138
- Hayashi K, Nakao K, Nakamura K (2015) Appetitive and aversive information coding in the primate dorsal raphé nucleus. J Neurosci 35:6195–6208
- Henssen A, Zilles K, Palomero-Gallagher N, Schleicher A, Mohlberg H, Gerboga F, Eickhoff SB, Bludau S, Amunts K (2016) Cytoarchitecture and probability maps of the human medial orbitofrontal cortex. Cortex 75:87–112
- Hermann GE, Holmes GM, Rogers RC, Beattie MS, Bresnahan JC (2003) Descending spinal projections from the rostral gigantocellular reticular nuclei complex. J Comp Neurol 455:210–221
- Hobson JA, Pace-Schott EF (2002) The cognitive neuroscience of sleep: neuronal systems, consciousness and learning. Nat Rev Neurosci 3:679–693
- Holt DJ, Graybiel AM, Saper CB (1997) Neurochemical architecture of the human striatum. J Comp Neurol 384:1–25
- Hornung JP (2012) Raphe Nuclei. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 401–424
- Hsu DT, Price JL (2007) Midline and intralaminar thalamic connections with the orbital and medial prefrontal networks in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 504:89–111
- Hsu DT, Price JL (2009) Paraventricular thalamic nucleus: subcortical connections and innervation by serotonin, orexin, and corticotropin-releasing hormone in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 512:825–848
- Hsu DT, Kirouac GJ, Zubieta JK, Bhatnagar S (2014) Contributions of the paraventricular thalamic nucleus in the regulation of stress, motivation, and mood. Front Behav Neurosci 8:73
- Insausti R, Amaral DG, Cowan WM (1987) The entorhinal cortex of the monkey: II. Cortical afferents. J Comp Neurol 264:356–395
- Jakab RL, Leranth C (1995) Chapter 20—Septum. In: Paxinos G (ed) The rat nervous system, 2. Aufl. Academic, San Diego, pp 405–442
- Jang S, Kwak S (2017) The upper ascending reticular activating system between intralaminar thalamic nuclei and cerebral cortex in the human brain. J Korean Phys Ther 29:109–114
- Jang SH, Lim HW, Yeo SS (2014) The neural connectivity of the intralaminar thalamic nuclei in the human brain: a diffusion tensor tractography study. Neurosci Lett 579:140–144
- Joly-Amado A, Cansell C, Denis RG, Delbes AS, Castel J, Martinez S, Luquet S (2014) The hypo-

thalamic arcuate nucleus and the control of peripheral substrates. Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab 28:725–737

- Jones EG (1998) The thalamus of primates. In: Bloom FE, Björklund A, Hökfelt T (eds) The primate nervous system. Part II. Handbook of chemical neuroanatomy, Bd 14. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp 1–298
- Kiss J, Patel AJ, Baimbridge KG, Freund TF (1990a) Topographical localization of neurons containing parvalbumin and choline acetyl-transferase in the medial septum-diagonal band region of the rat. Neuroscience 36:61–72
- Kiss J, Patel AJ, Freund TF (1990b) Distribution of septohippocampal neurons containing parvalbumin or choline acetyltransferase in the rat brain. J Comp Neurol 298:362–372
- Knox D (2016) The role of basal forebrain cholinergic neurons in fear and extinction memory. Neurobiol Learn Mem 133:39–52
- Koelsch S, Jacobs AM, Menninghaus W, Liebal K, Klann-Delius G, von Scheve C, Gebauer G (2015) The quartet theory of human emotions: an integative and neurofunctional model. Phys Life Rev 13:1–17
- Kolada E, Bielski K, Falkiewicz M, Szatkowska I (2017) Functional organization of the human amygdala in appetitive learning. Acta Neurobiol Exp (Wars) 77:118–127
- Kunishio K, Haber SN (1994) Primate cingulostriatal projection: limbic striatal versus sensorimotor striatal input. J Comp Neurol 350:337–356
- Kurth F, Zilles K, Fox PT, Laird AR, Eickhoff SB (2010) A link between the systems: functional differentiation and integration within the human insula revealed by meta-analysis. Brain Struct Funct 214:519–534
- Lamm C, Singer T (2010) The role of anterior insular cortex in social emotions. Brain Struct Funct 214:579–591
- Lamm C, Decety J, Singer T (2011) Meta-analytic evidence for common and distinct neural networks associated with directly experienced pain and empathy for pain. NeuroImage 54:2492–2502
- Lebow MA, Chen A (2016) Overshadowed by the amygdala: the bed nucleus of the stria terminalis emerges as key to psychiatric disorders. Mol Psychiatry 21:450–463
- Leichnetz GR, Smith DJ, Spencer RF (1984) Cortical projections to the paramedian tegmental and basilar pons in the monkey. J Comp Neurol 228:388– 408
- Liljeholm M, O'Doherty JP (2012) Contributions of the striatum to learning, motivation, and performance: an associative account. Trends Cognit Sci 16:467–475

- Lima D, Almeida A (2002) The medullary dorsal reticular nucleus as a propriociceptive centre of the pain control system. Prog Neurobiol 66:81– 108
- Li Y, Vanni-Mercier G, Isnard J, Mauguière F, Dreher JC (2016) The neural dynamics of reward value and risk coding in the human orbitofrontal cortex. Brain 139:1295–1309
- Liu AK, Chang RC, Pearce RK, Gentleman SM (2015) Nucleus basalis of Meynert revisited: anatomy, history and differential involvement in Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease. Acta Neuropathol 129:527–540
- Luo M, Li Y, Zhong W (2016) Do dorsal raphe 5-HT neurons encode "beneficialness"? Neurobiol Learn Mem 135:40–49
- Mai JK, Majtanik M, Paxinos G (2016) Atlas of the human brain, 4. Aufl. Academic, London
- Margulies DS, Kelly AM, Uddin LQ, Biswal BB, Castellanos FX, Milham MP (2007) Mapping the functional connectivity of anterior cingulate cortex. NeuroImage 37:579–588
- Markowitsch HJ, Emmans D, Irle E, Streicher M, Preilowski B (1985) Cortical and subcortical afferent connections of the primate's temporal pole: a study of rhesus monkeys, squirrel monkeys, and marmosets. J Comp Neurol 242:425–458
- McDonald AJ, Mott DD (2017) Functional neuroanatomy of amygdalohippocampal interconnections and their role in learning and memory. J Neurosci Res 95:797–820
- McFarland NR, Haber SN (2002) Thalamic relay nuclei of the basal ganglia form both reciprocal and nonreciprocal cortical connections, linking multiple frontal cortical areas. J Neurosci 22:8117–8132
- McKee AC, Cairns NJ, Dickson DW, Folkerth RD, Keene CD, Litvan I, Perl DP, Stein TD, Vonsattel JP, Stewart W, Tripodis Y, Crary JF, Bieniek KF, Dams-O'Connor K, Alvarez VE, Gordon WA, TBI/CTE Group (2016) The first NINDS/NIBIB consensus meeting to define neuropathological criteria for the diagnosis of chronic traumatic encephalopathy. Acta Neuropathol 131:75–86
- McRitchie DA, Halliday GM, Cartwright H (1995) Quantitative analysis of the variability of substantia nigra cell clusters in the human. Neuroscience 68:539–551
- Mehler WR (1980) Subcortical afferent connections of the amygdala in the monkey. J Comp Neurol 190:733–762
- Menon V, Levitin DJ (2005) The rewards of music listening: response and physiological connectivity of the mesolimbic system. NeuroImage 28:175–184
- Meredith GE, Pattiselanno A, Groenewegen HJ, Haber SN (1996) Shell and core in monkey and human

nucleus accumbens identified with antibodies to calbindin-D28k. J Comp Neurol 365:628–639

- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ (1982a) Insula of the old world monkey. I. Architectonics in the insuloorbito-temporal component of the paralimbic brain. J Comp Neurol 212:1–22
- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ (1982b) Insula of the old world monkey. III: Efferent cortical output and comments on function. J Comp Neurol 212:38–52
- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ (1984) Neural inputs into the nucleus basalis of the substantia innominata (Ch4) in the rhesus monkey. Brain 107:253–274
- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ (1985) The insula of Reil in man and monkey. In: Peters A, Jones EG (eds) Association and auditory cortices. Plenum, New York, pp 179–226
- Mesulam MM, Mufson EJ, Levey AI, Wainer BH (1983) Cholinergic innervation of cortex by the basal forebrain: cytochemistry and cortical connections of the septal area, diagonal band nuclei, nucleus basalis (substantia innominata), and hypothalamus in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 214:170–197
- Metzger M, Bueno D, Lima LB (2017) The lateral habenula and the serotonergic system. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 162:22–28
- Miczek KA, DeBold JF, Hwa LS, Newman EL, de Almeida RM (2015) Alcohol and violence: neuropeptidergic modulation of monoamine systems. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1349:96–118
- Misra G, Coombes SA (2015) Neuroimaging evidence of motor control and pain processing in the human midcingulate cortex. Cereb Cortex 25:1906–1919
- Mitchell JM, Lowe D, Fields HL (1998) The contribution of the rostral ventromedial medulla to the antinociceptive effects of systemic morphine in restrained and unrestrained rats. Neuroscience 87:123–133
- Mohedano-Moriano A, Muñoz-López M, Sanz-Arigita E, Pró-Sistiaga P, Martínez-Marcos A, Legidos-Garcia ME, Insausti AM, Cebada-Sánchez S, Arroyo-Jiménez Mdel M, Marcos P, Artacho-Pérula E, Insausti R (2015) Prefrontal cortex afferents to the anterior temporal lobe in the Macaca fascicularis monkey. J Comp Neurol 523:2570–2598
- Moran MA, Mufson EJ, Mesulam MM (1987) Neural inputs into the temporopolar cortex of the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 256:88–103
- Morecraft RJ, Van Hoesen GW (1993) Frontal granular cortex input to the cingulate (M3), supplementary (M2) and primary (M1) motor cortices in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 337:669–689
- Morecraft RJ, Geula C, Mesulam MM (1992) Cytoarchitecture and neural afferents of orbitofrontal cortex in the brain of the monkey. J Comp Neurol 323:341–358

- Morecraft RJ, Schroeder CM, Keifer J (1996) Organization of face representation in the cingulate cortex of the rhesus monkey. Neuroreport 7:1343–1348
- Morecraft RJ, Cipolloni PB, Stilwell-Morecraft KS, Gedney MT, Pandya DN (2004) Cytoarchitecture and cortical connections of the posterior cingulate and adjacent somatosensory fields in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 469:37–69
- Morecraft RJ, McNeal DW, Stilwell-Morecraft KS, Gedney M, Ge J, Schroeder CM, van Hoesen GW (2007) Amygdala interconnections with the cingulate motor cortex in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 500:134–165
- Mufson EJ, Mesulam MM (1982) Insula of the old world monkey. II: Afferent cortical input and comments on the claustrum. J Comp Neurol 212:23–37
- Müller C, Remy S (2018) Septo-hippocampal interaction. Cell Tissue Res 373:565–575
- Muñoz M, Insausti R (2005) Cortical efferents of the entorhinal cortex and the adjacent parahippocampal region in the monkey (Macaca fascicularis). Eur J Neurosci 22:1368–1388
- Müri RM (2016) Cortical control of facial expression. J Comp Neurol 524:1578–1585
- Mutschler I, Wieckhorst B, Kowalevski S, Derix J, Wentlandt J, Schulze-Bonhage A, Ball T (2009) Functional organization of the human anterior insular cortex. Neurosci Lett 457:66–70
- Nadel L, Hoscheidt S, Ryan LR (2013) Spatial cognition and the hippocampus: the anterior-posterior axis. J Cognit Neurosci 25:22–28
- Nieuwenhuys R (1985) Chemoarchitecture of the brain. Springer, Berlin
- Nieuwenhuys R (2012) The insular cortex: a review. Prog Brain Res 195:123–163
- Nieuwenhuys R, Voogd J, van Huijzen C (1988) The human central nervous system. Springer, Berlin
- Nieuwenhuys R, Voogd J, van Huijzen C (1991) Das Zentralnervensystem des Menschen. Springer, Berlin
- Nieuwenhuys R, Voogd J, Van Huijzen C (2008) The human central nervous system. Springer, Berlin
- Oldfield RG, Harris RM, Hofmann HA (2015) Integrating resource defence theory with a neural nonapeptide pathway to explain territory-based mating systems. Front Zool 12(Suppl 1):S16
- Öngür D, An X, Price JL (1998) Prefrontal cortical projections to the hypothalamus in macaque monkeys. J Comp Neurol 401:480–505
- Ostrowsky K, Magnin M, Ryvlin P, Isnard J, Guenot M, Mauguière F (2002) Representation of pain and somatic sensation in the human insula: a study of responses to direct electrical cortical stimulation. Cereb Cortex 12:376–385
- Pandya DN, Van Hoesen GW, Mesulam MM (1981) Efferent connections of the cingulate gyrus in the

rhesus monkey. Exp Brain Res 42:319-330

- Papez JW (1937) A proposed mechanism of emotion. Arch Neurol Psychiatr 38:725–743
- Parent A, Hazrati LN (1995) Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. I. The cortico-basal gangliathalamo-cortical loop. Brain Res Rev 20:91–127
- Paus T (2000) Functional anatomy of arousal and attention systems in the human brain. Prog Brain Res 126:65–77
- Paus T (2001) Primate anterior cingulate cortex: where motor control, drive and cognition interface. Nat Rev Neurosci 2:417–424
- Paxinos G, Xu-Feng H, Sengul G, Watson C (2012) Organization of brainstem nuclei. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 260–327
- Pereira de Vasconcelos A, Cassel JC (2015) The nonspecific thalamus: a place in a wedding bed for making memories last? Neurosci Biobehav Rev 54:175–196
- Petrovich GD (2018) Lateral hypothalamus as a motivation-cognition interface in the control of feeding behavior. Front Syst Neurosci 12:14
- Phillips ML, Drevets WC, Rauch SL, Lane R (2003) Neurobiology of emotion perception I: the neural basis of normal emotion perception. Biol Psychiatry 54:504–514
- Picard N, Strick PL (2001) Imaging the premotor areas. Curr Opin Neurobiol 11:663–672
- Porrino LJ, Crane AM, Goldman-Rakic PS (1981) Direct and indirect pathways from the amygdala to the frontal lobe in rhesus monkeys. J Comp Neurol 198:121–136
- Pourtois G, Schettino A, Vuilleumier P (2013) Brain mechanisms for emotional influences on perception and attention: what is magic and what is not. Biol Psychol 92:492–512
- Price JL (1995) Thalamus. In: Paxinos G (ed) The rat nervous system, 2nd Aufl. Academic, San Diego, pp 629–648
- Price JL (2003) Comparative aspects of amygdala connectivity. Ann N Y Acad Sci 985:50–58
- Price JL, Amaral DG (1981) An autoradiographic study of the projections of the central nucleus of the monkey amygdala. J Neurosci 1:1242–1259
- Procyk E, Wilson CR, Stoll FM, Faraut MC, Petrides M, Amiez C (2016) Midcingulate motor map and feedback detection: converging data from humans and monkeys. Cereb Cortex 26:467–476
- Puglisi-Allegra S, Andolina D (2015) Serotonin and stress coping. Behav Brain Res 277:58–67
- Rainville P (2002) Brain mechanisms of pain affect and pain modulation. Curr Opin Neurobiol 12:195–204
- Rempel-Clower NL, Barbas H (1998) Topographic organization of connections between the hypo-

thalamus and prefrontal cortex in the rhesus monkey. J Comp Neurol 398:393–419

- Rolls ET (2012) The emotional systems. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human nervous system. Academic, London, pp 1328–1350
- Root DH, Melendez RI, Zaborszky L, Napier TC (2015) The ventral pallidum: subregion-specific functional anatomy and roles in motivated behaviors. Prog Neurobiol 130:29–70
- Rudebeck PH, Murray EA (2014) The orbitofrontal oracle: cortical mechanisms for the prediction and evaluation of specific behavioral outcomes. Neuron 84:1143–1156
- Russchen FT, Amaral DG, Price JL (1985) The afferent connections of the substantia innominata in the monkey, Macaca fascicularis. J Comp Neurol 242:1–27
- Russchen FT, Amaral DG, Price JL (1987) The afferent input to the magnocellular division of the mediodorsal thalamic nucleus in the monkey, Macaca fascicularis. J Comp Neurol 256:175–210
- Sabatinelli D, Fortune EE, Li Q, Siddiqui A, Krafft C, Oliver WT, Beck S, Jeffries J (2011) Emotional perception: meta-analyses of face and natural scene processing. NeuroImage 54:2524–2533
- Sara SJ (2009) The locus coeruleus and noradrenergic modulation of cognition. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:211–223
- Satoh T, Nakai S, Sato T, Kimura M (2003) Correlated coding of motivation and outcome of decision by dopamine neurons. J Neurosci 23:9913–9923
- Schoenbaum G, Esber GR (2010) How do you (estimate you will) like them apples? Integration as a defining trait of orbitofrontal function. Curr Opin Neurobiol 20:205–211
- Schoenbaum G, Takahashi Y, Tzu-Lan L, McDannald MA (2011) Does the orbitofrontal cortex signal value? Ann N Y Acad Sci 1239:87–99
- Schwartz MD, Kilduff TS (2015) The neurobiology of sleep and wakefulness. Psychiatr Clin North Am 38:615–644
- Selemon LD, Goldman-Rakic PS (1985) Longitudinal topography and interdigitation of corticostriatal projections in the rhesus monkey. J Neurosci 5:776–794
- Sharpe MJ, Schoenbaum G (2016) Back to basics: making predictions in the orbitofrontal-amygdala circuit. Neurobiol Learn Mem 131:201–206
- Shelley BP, Trimble MR (2004) The insular lobe of Reil—its anatamico-functional, behavioural and neuropsychiatric attributes in humans—a review. World J Biol Psychiatry 5:176–200
- Singer T, Seymour B, O'Doherty J, Kaube H, Dolan RJ, Frith CD (2004) Empathy for pain involves the affective but not sensory components of pain. Science 303:1157–1162

Singer T, Critchley HD, Preuschoff K (2009) A common role of insula in feelings, empathy and uncertainty. Trends Cogn Sci 13:334–340

Stalnaker TA, Cooch NK, Schoenbaum G (2015) What the orbitofrontal cortex does not do. Nat Neurosci 18:620–627

- Stefanacci L, Amaral DG (2000) Topographic organization of cortical inputs to the lateral nucleus of the macaque monkey amygdala: a retrograde tracing study. J Comp Neurol 421:52–79
- Stefanacci L, Amaral DG (2002) Some observations on cortical inputs to the macaque monkey amygdala: an anterograde tracing study. J Comp Neurol 451:301–323
- Stephani C, Fernandez-Baca Vaca G, Maciunas R, Koubeissi M, Lüders HO (2011) Functional neuroanatomy of the insular lobe. Brain Struct Funct 216:137–149
- Sweeney P, Yang Y (2015) An excitatory ventral hippocampus to lateral septum circuit that suppresses feeding. Nat Commun 6:10188
- Sweeney P, Yang Y (2017) Neural circuit mechanisms underlying emotional regulation of homeostatic feeding. Trends Endocrinol Metab 28:437–448
- Timbie C, Barbas H (2015) Pathways for emotions: specializations in the amygdalar, mediodorsal thalamic, and posterior orbitofrontal network. J Neurosci 35:11976–11987
- Toth M, Fuzesi T, Halasz J, Tulogdi A, Haller J (2010) Neural inputs of the hypothalamic "aggression area" in the rat. Behav Brain Res 215:7–20
- Tsukahara S, Yamanouchi K (2001) Neurohistological and behavioral evidence for lordosis-inhibiting tract from lateral septum to periaqueductal gray in male rats. J Comp Neurol 431:293–310
- Turner BH, Gupta KC, Mishkin M (1978) The locus and cytoarchitecture of the projection areas of the olfactory bulb in Macaca mulatta. J Comp Neurol 177:381–396
- Veening JG, Coolen LM, Gerrits PO (2014) Neural mechanisms of female sexual behavior in the rat; comparison with male ejaculatory control. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 121:16–30
- Vertes RP, Linley SB, Hoover WB (2015) Limbic circuitry of the midline thalamus. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 54:89–107
- Viard A, Doeller CF, Hartley T, Bird CM, Burgess N (2011) Anterior hippocampus and goal-directed spatial decision making. J Neurosci 31:4613–4621
- Vogt BA (2016) Midcingulate cortex: structure, connections, homologies, functions and diseases. J Chem Neuroanat 74:28–46
- Vogt BA, Pandya DN (1987) Cingulate cortex of the rhesus monkey: II. Cortical afferents. J Comp Neurol 262:271–289
- Vogt BA, Palomero-Gallagher N (2012) Cingulate cortex. In: Mai JK, Paxinos G (eds) The human

nervous system. Academic, London, pp 943-987

- Vogt BA, Vogt L, Laureys S (2006) Cytology and functionally correlated circuits of human posterior cingulate areas. NeuroImage 29:452–466
- Vogt BA, Hof PR, Friedman DP, Sikes RW, Vogt LJ (2008) Norepinephrinergic afferents and cytology of the macaque monkey midline, mediodorsal, and intralaminar thalamic nuclei. Brain Struct Funct 212:465–479
- Von Economo C (1929) The cytoarchitectonics of the human cerebral cortex. Oxford University Press, London
- Walton ME, Behrens TE, Noonan MP, Rushworth MF (2011) Giving credit where credit is due: orbitofrontal cortex and valuation in an uncertain world. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1239:14–24
- Wilkenheiser AM, Schoenbaum G (2016) Over the river, through the woods: cognitive maps in the hippocampus and orbitofrontal cortex. Nat Rev Neurosci 17:513–523
- Wilson MA, Fadel JR (2017) Cholinergic regulation of fear learning and extinction. J Neurosci Res 95:836–852
- Wilson RC, Takahashi YK, Schoenbaum G, Niv Y (2014) Orbitofrontal cortex as a cognitive map of task space. Neuron 81:267–279
- Yamashita T, Yamanaka A (2017) Lateral hypothalamic circuits for sleep-wake control. Curr Opin Neurobiol 44:94–100
- Yang C, Thankachan S, McCarley RW, Brown RE (2017) The menagerie of the basal forebrain: how many (neural) species are there, what do they look like, how do they behave and who talks to whom? Curr Opin Neurobiol 44:159–166
- Yau SY, Li A, So KF (2015) Involvement of adult hippocampal neurogenesis in learning and forgetting. Neural Plast 2015:717958
- Zahm DS, Root DH (2017) Review of the cytology and connections of the lateral habenula, an avatar of adaptive behaving. Pharmacol Biochem Behav 162:3–21
- Zarow C, Lyness SA, Mortimer JA, Chui HC (2003) Neuronal loss is greater in the locus coeruleus than nucleus basalis and substantia nigra in Alzheimer and Parkinson diseases. Arch Neurol 60:337–341
- Zeman A, Coebergh JA (2013) The nature of consciousness. Handb Clin Neurol 118:373–407
- Zernig G, Pinheiro BS (2015) Dyadic social interaction inhibits cocaine-conditioned place preference and the associated activation of the accumbens corridor. Behav Pharmacol 26:580–594
- Zhao C, Gammie SC (2014) Glutamate, GABA, and glutamine are synchronously upregulated in the mouse lateral septum during the postpartum period. Brain Res 1591:53–62

- Zoicas I, Slattery DA, Neumann ID (2014) Brain oxytocin in social fear conditioning and its extinction: involvement of the lateral septum. Neuropsychopharmacology 39:3027–3035
- Zorrilla EP, Koob GF (2013) Amygdalostriatal projections in the neurocircuitry for motivation: a neuroanatomical thread through the career of Ann Kelley. Neurosci Biobehav Rev 37:1932–1945

59